| | Sana Khan July 2024 |
|---|------------------------|
| Meanings of education in the life narratives of educated unemployed women | in Pakistan |
| | |
| Master's Degree Programme in G School of History, Culture and | l Arts Studies |
| | of Humanities |
| The originality of this thesis has been checked in accordance with the University of Turku que system using the Turnitin Originality Check service. | ality assurance |

UNIVERSITY OF TURKU

School of History, Culture and Arts Studies / Faculty of Humanities

KHAN, SANA

Meanings of education in the life narratives of educated unemployed women in Pakistan

Master's Thesis, 68 pages

Master's Degree Programme in Gender Studies

July 2024

.....

Abstract

In this thesis, I explored the narratives of six educated unemployed women living in the main cities of Pakistan, primarily focusing on their past educational experiences and its meaning in their current unemployed lives. The term "educated unemployed" highlights the contradiction these women face after getting education and being unable to secure employment. Moreover, this study not only addresses the contradiction but also examines the positive outcomes their education has brought into their lives. The findings of this study are based on existing literature on "gender, education, and employment," as well as feminist discussions on women's right to education and work. Central to this research is the focus on the voices and experiences of Pakistani women. This research is based on narrative interviews and thematic analysis, through which various themes emerged. The findings show that although these women's education did not lead to employment for several reasons, they still experienced positive changes in their lives. However, they also felt that their education is being wasted without corresponding employment opportunities.

Keywords: education, employment, feminist discussions, unemployed women, experiences, Pakistan, Pakistani women, narratives

Acknowledgements

First, thanks are due to my supervisor, Prof. Anu Koivunen in the Department of Gender Studies at the University of Turku, for the guidance and insightful comments during the development of this thesis. Gratitude is also extended to Dr. Riikka Taavetti, University Lecturer in the Department of Gender Studies at the University of Turku, for support and advice during the final stages of this thesis. The support provided was crucial to the completion of this work.

Sincere thanks are given to all the interview participants for their time and invaluable contributions to this research. Their insights and experiences significantly enriched the study and made this work possible. Appreciation is also extended to course mates for feedback and comments during the MA thesis seminars.

Finally, heartfelt thanks are directed to my parents and siblings for their unwavering moral and emotional support and encouragement throughout the master's thesis journey. Without this support, this achievement would not have been possible.

Table of Contents

| Ab | stract | 2 |
|-----|---|-------|
| Acl | knowledgements | 3 |
| 1. | Introduction | .5 |
| 1.1 | The initial phase of the research | 5 |
| 1.2 | Research aims and questions | 6 |
| 2. | Literature review | .8 |
| 2.1 | Situation of women in a Pakistani society | 8 |
| 2.2 | Women and education | 10 |
| 2.3 | Women and employment | 14 |
| 3. | Theoretical framework | .17 |
| 3.1 | Feminist discussion on education and work of women | 17 |
| 4. | Methodology | .20 |
| 4.1 | Data collection | 20 |
| 4.2 | Analysis methods | 22 |
| 4.3 | Research ethics | 23 |
| 4.4 | Participants information | 24 |
| 5. | Analysis | 25 |
| 5.1 | Contradiction of being educated and unemployed | 25 |
| 5.1 | .1 Time wastage and financial dependence | 25 |
| 5.1 | .2 The question of what did you after studying this much? | 29 |
| 5.1 | .3 Finding the alternative | 35 |
| 5.2 | Positive outcomes | 40 |
| 5.2 | .1 Skills acquired through education | 41 |
| 5.2 | .2 Personal Growth | 46 |
| 6. | Discussion | 53 |
| 6.1 | Limitations | 57 |
| 7. | Conclusion | 58 |
| 8. | References | 60 |
| 9. | Appendices | 63-68 |

1. Introduction:

1.1 The initial phase of the research

My research interest has developed around the topic of women's education and work perhaps because of my experience as a teacher for two years and my father's advice to me from an early age to pursue good education and to secure a job to become financially independent. According to my father's teachings to me, education for girls is more important than it is for boys, because, in Pakistan, a woman is dependent on men in one aspect or the other, so for him a woman should be educated and employed, to secure her future and value in the society. What he said to me depicts the dependence of women in Pakistani society on their male counterparts in terms of finances, decision-making, education, and work. Also, Pakistan does not have a social benefits system, where women can be supported by the government financially. So, from the very beginning, I have been instilled with the value of independence. When I graduated, in 2019, I felt a sudden emptiness in my life, despite it being only for two months, I was eager to get a job since I wanted to do something in my life with the education I received and overcome the feeling of emptiness. For some reason, I could not find a job related to my field, so like most women in Pakistan, I applied to become a primary school teacher, which is a female-oriented job in Pakistan, I still wished for a job related to my field, but I had the satisfaction of doing something in my life.

This background relates to my choice of thesis topic that concerns the narratives of unemployed women about the meanings of education in their lives. Since they are unemployed, I am interested in exploring through their narratives what happens when they stay unemployed after receiving education. Is education for these women meaningful and if yes, in what ways? Do they experience positive outcomes in their current lives because of their educational experience? Moreover, I am interested in the contradiction of "educated but unemployed" that has not been given much attention in Pakistani context. In addition, as a researcher, having the same positionality as my interview participants, I am aware of the reasons for the disparity between educated women and unemployment (also mentioned in chapter 2) but what is missing is the research discussing this contradiction. So, the best way to know about this contradiction is knowing unemployed, educated Pakistani women experiences and to bring forward their voice.

Women's education has been one of the oldest debates in feminist discourse; focusing on women's education to bring equality and for the betterment of the society. Starting from Mary

Wollstonecraft, *Vindication of the rights of* women,1792 and Betty Friedan's book 'The Feminist Mystique'. The discussion on women's right to education and work is still debatable topic in many societies, including Pakistan. These classical debates on women's right to education and work would help me in the analysis of the data collected through interviews and to also see how this classical discussion is still relatable.

The focus of this research is on the narratives of educated but unemployed women in Pakistan's urban areas. The aim is to uncover the experiences of women about their education; with education, I primarily mean their four-year bachelor's degree (university life or higher education) and onwards. The emphasis of this research is on educated unemployed women narrating their experiences and the meanings of education in their past and current lives. Here, in this research, I am specifically interested in the stories of currently *unemployed* educated women. When I refer to 'unemployed women', I am looking for experiences of women who do not leave their home to work at a different location, spend their time, and receive incentives for their work; nevertheless, I recognize and equally value the work of the women who are housewives, stay-at-home moms, and do unpaid care work, and I also recognize women's work who are self-employed. But my research's focus is on the education that prepares a woman for paid work and what happens when they do not have that work.

Secondly, I will search for the contradiction. By that, I mean: what does education mean to these educated unemployed women when they are unemployed for one reason or another? Does education make sense for them without employment?

1.2 Research aims and questions:

The aim of this research is to gain insights into women's experiences of what education has meant and continues to mean to them in their changing life situations. It aims to understand how and in what way education plays its role in the lives of unemployed women. It aims to see in what other ways, other than formal work, education plays its part in the lives of women. Moreover, it focuses on uncovering the contradiction in being an educated woman who is unemployed.

Here are the research questions that I aim to answer:

- What are the contradictions these women narrate about being "educated unemployed" in relation to their educational experiences?
- In what specific ways women narrate their educational experiences and its positive outcomes in their current lives?

2. Literature Review

2.1 Situation of women in a Pakistani society

I will begin with providing background information on situation of women in Pakistan, particularly in terms of education and employment. Pakistani society is highly regulated by socio-cultural norms and stereotypical beliefs that restricts women in taking part in public life whether it be education or employment. Patriarchy and gender-biased interpretation of religious texts are deeply rooted in Muslim-majority countries due to which women's participation in public life is not usually supported. (Pio and Syed, 2013) In terms of employment, it is obvious that the situation is same especially, the gender gap in Pakistan that is in every part of the country, women are held back socially and economically by extremist and prejudiced practices. Patriarchal culture, norms, and values have imposed constraints on women's social and economic mobility. As a result, in the labor force, women have never reached the level of men. Again, the significant obstacles women face in their career development are patriarchal practices, segregation of jobs because of gender stereotypes and traditional attitudes. (Raza and Murad, 2010) In addition, gender roles and traditional expectations in Pakistan results in women quitting their jobs because according to these roles and expectations, "marriage should be the primary status in a women's life. For women in Pakistan, work and career is treated as a privilege that are women 'allowed' for them to be happy. (Mohsin and Syed, 2020) This privilege is usually either allowed or denied by the male members of their family, but they are expected to prioritize their marriage and family first. Furthermore, gender equity at home is a problem because according to gender roles women must do a second shift after their job that is house chores. Most women doctors would leave their jobs because it is difficult to manage both. This defines as one of the reasons for women being highly educated but unemployed. (Mohsin and Syed, 2020)

These studies explain why women in Pakistan cannot participate in public life or work in the field in which they got a degree. it shows the barriers women face in terms of getting employed which is crucial to know as a researcher. These studies also helped me see that most research in the field of women's education and employment focusses on why educated women do not enter the workforce, but not much on what happens to their education afterwards and how do they experience being educated and unemployed. These studies focus majorly in finding the reasons for them not being the part of the work force primarily concerned with the 'quantities' but less is

known about what unemployed women have to say about their education and its meaning especially in Pakistani context.

Not to deny the fact that there has been improvement in support for women's participation in education; Usually, unmarried girls in Pakistan who are pursuing higher education often receive parental support for their studies. This support is driven by the belief that education equips girls with the knowledge and skills necessary to navigate potential challenges in their future married lives, particularly if they meet difficulties with their spouses or in-laws. (Moazam and sheikhani, 2018) It is noteworthy that this emphasis on education is not primarily tied to financial independence or earning money but rather centers on the value of women having a solid educational foundation. In addition to it, a crucial point mentioned in the study by Moazam and sheikhani is that "education serves as decorative thing and does not have any emancipatory effect." This observation emphasizes the prevailing socio-cultural lens through which women's education is perceived. It is often regarded to enhance one's desirability as a suitable marriage partner within society, without an expectation of bringing about transformative effects in their life. These studies could also assist me in seeing women's narratives in diverse ways, as my focus is educated women with no employment, this would help me seeing how education is meaningful in their personal and family life without professional job? the emphasis on education not being on financial independence but rather on having strong educational background motivates me to see what these educated unemployed women have to say about this belief that education is for enhancing their suitability within the society or is it different for them since they are educated unemployed.

In Pakistan, the division of family roles is based on the cultural norms and traditions, where men and women are assigned different responsibilities, leading to women taking on majority of the household duties. (Ali, et al.,2010) This situation results in anxiety, stress and both mental and physical exhaustion for women. They are left with less free time, isolation from public life and restrictions on access to education and employment opportunities. Moreover, women also do not have the authority to make decisions for themselves, living in a male dominated society where cultural and traditional norms give men the authority to make decisions on behalf of women irrespective of whether the man is her father, uncle, brother, or husband. (Ali, et al., 2010)

Research explored the difficulties caused in professional Pakistani women's lives due to the sociocultural context. It discovered the limitations on women's employment due to organizational

barriers have been improved significantly but still, dominant 'gender relations' in many ways are drawbacks in women's participation in formal jobs. (Grünenfelder,2013) In Pakistani society, women's work is usually accepted if the reason for her job is the financial need of her family. it is because of the statement that men and women have distinct roles and therefore adopt different skills and qualities. (Grünenfelder,2013) Not only this, but living on the earnings of women is considered a dishonor by parents and male members of the family. Particularly, in the province of Khyber Pakhtunkhwa and Baluchistan where the tribal laws and environment are conservative, and men and women are not allowed to work together as well as the issues related to the security of girls have made it worse. Consequently, 'social conservatism, security, and religious interpretations have made it difficult to maintain gender parity in employment'(Zia,1998).

2.2 Women and education

There have been studies done related to how education has brought changes into the lives of women in different societies specifically in Pakistan and its nearby countries like India and Bangladesh because these countries share some similarities and history.

Education in the lives of women can bring about remarkable changes, such as boosting their confidence and elevating their status within the family and society. "Women, who are educated are confident and capable of making their own decisions." (Noureen and Awan, 2011). While this case study by Noureen and Awan focused on the importance of education for women in Pakistan and by interviewing women aged 50-60 from a local female university who held positions of significance, it still stays a valuable study in terms of understanding the intersection of education and women in Pakistan. (Noureen and Awan, 2011) Experiences of being an educated women in India were brought forward by Sharma-Brymer and Christine Fox using phenomenological hermeneutical method. Women's narratives were documented using an exploratory phenomenological approach to find the meanings behind their experiences rather than just the facts. To gain a more profound comprehension of the lived experience, multiple levels of sub-themes, primary themes, and a phenomenological theme were developed. "It opened new ways for understanding what it means to be a woman with education." (Sharma & Fox, 2008) The stories methodically highlight the struggles and tensions faced by women.

These educated women go through constant negotiation between navigating private and public lives. Despite being confident and being aware of what is good for them, they often choose not to

change the traditional ways. This offers fresh perspectives on analyzing the lives of educated women within a certain socio-cultural framework. (Sharma & Fox, 2008) This study might help me in what I aim to study in this research is the contradiction of being educated and unemployed.

Daily life narratives of women in Urban Bangalore (India) have been studied, raising a question 'How do women with higher education view their own experiences of being educated in their everyday life?'. Studying educated women's narratives revealed intricacies in gender relations, emphasizing the tensions and conflicts faced by women in their public and private life. Education as a tool for empowerment and social change is emphasized theoretically though women are still navigating the social expectation and gender roles. (Sharma Brymer, 2006) educated women have different experiences of being educated internally and externally. Educated women felt confident for being educated but this confidence was limited within their internal and external space. (Sharma Brymer, 2006) "as educated women they could do what they wanted to do but their experiences pointed out that they are compromising and adjusting within their internal and external space. The space of living as a traditional, educated woman in Indian society entails the choice of the educated woman to be so, as the participants' experiences showed." (Sharma Brymer, 2006)

Moreover, education for women is also a source of financial independence. According to (Malik and Courtney, 2011) women who pursue higher education get many benefits such as financial independence. This financial independence leads to a rise in status and recognition from their family and community. Though Malik and Courtney studied faculty members of local university, that means they held positions to pursue their careers, but my interest is to see women who are unemployed and do not have financial independence, what is it in that case. Not only financial independence but other advantages were also seen besides receiving an education, being financially independent women also felt growth in self-assurance, social value, and having a voice. (Malik and Courtney, 2011) From the critical feminist lens, it has been studied to understand the social and cultural opportunities that a woman gets through higher education and college spaces in Mewat, India. (Kisana and Arora, 2023) Despite their social agency being restricted, their college space was seen as transformative environment which offered them an "escape" (Kisana and Arora, 2023) College provides opportunities for imagination, dialogue, friendship, and support, all of which contribute to the intricate network of opportunities that lies ahead. Young women who come to college to "hang out" and make friends with other women perceive it as the one time in

their busy lives where they can partake in entertainment while sharing stories with other women. (Kisana and Arora, 2023) In my research, where I am studying women's education and its meaning in their past and current unemployed lives, this would give a background as education provides women an escape and to explore different opportunities, but what happens when their education is over, and they are unemployed? What do they have to say about their education and their lives then?

Education for women who are from disadvantage backgrounds is much more important for their empowerment. In such cases, the intersection of race, class and socio-economic backgrounds can make it more difficult. The narratives of black midlife women, (E.M. Lemmer,2009) shows how black midlife women give "meaning to their story of educational history and its contribution to their self-identity." The analysis of their written life histories and interviews illustrates how these women made meaning of trauma and life transitions and gained empowerment through educational and professional success. Their educational achievements made them focus on their positive self-identity and reconciling prior setbacks. It adds that, "women's education may have not brought them extra ordinary benefits "but they have contributed immeasurably to a positive sense of self in each woman." (E.M. Lemmer, 2009)

To elaborate further on the intersection of women and education, the factor of religion also plays a crucial role. It has been observed in a case study based on two ethnographic studies conducted in Pakistan and India, focusing on the lived experiences and meaning of empowerment via education for Muslim women in Pakistan and India. Taking into account, the women studied were from low-income communities, focusing on the educational position they held to define what it means to be empowered in their respective communities. They were also questioned, "what it means to be educated" living in a Muslim minority (India) and living in a Muslim Majority country (Pakistan). They mainly focused on religion and society, though women's vision of what it meant to them to be educated agreed on the value of being exposed to other people, this was taken as a sign of being educated. Not only this, but women also had the feeling that they got new roles and responsibilities, that contributes to their empowerment. Their empowerment had allowed them to have more freedom and opportunities. Both in private and public life. Women get the feeling of desirability through education (Shah and Khurshid, 2019)

Although women's participation in higher education has increased steadily in Bangladesh but employment rate has not progressed that. It has resulted in the question of "whether women in Bangladesh have enhanced agency and empowerment through by means of their education?" Because of "stereotyped subject selection, limited IT competence, a lack of relevant job skills and limited career aspirations," women have been able to improve their intrinsic, but not their instrumental empowerment. Moreover, it was also found prevalent that almost 85% of women had no decision-making power at the time of their enrolment in an institution, in fact, it was decided by the male guardians (father, brother, husband) of the women. Whereas the subject selection was reported by most of the women to be their own choice, through the experiences of higher education, the women got the opportunity to speak out and make contribution in the decision-making in their families and contributing positively to the gender dynamics of their households. Furthermore, all respondents intended to earn an MA degree and have their own independent income, indicating that education had positively influenced their aspirations. (Ahmed and Hyndman-rizk, 2017)

Moreover, construction of women's university lives both from past and present within the framework of socio-cultural experiences has been studied in the context of South Korean society. (Lee, 2013) it can be useful when analyzing the experiences of educated unemployed women in Pakistan because Pakistani society is likewise profoundly entrenched in the socio-cultural values (as discussed above) and these values may have an influence on how women construct their experiences of education and how they narrate their unemployed lives. Thus, without considering of women's off-campus experiences from past and present and the larger social structures that exist in a particular place at a particular moment (social structure) one cannot fully understand a woman's academic experience (education). (Lee, 2013)

(Skjortnes and Heidi Holt, 2010) it provides insights into how gender dynamic works within the higher education in the Toliara region of Madagascar. Despite the conventional gender expectations and economic pressure from extended families' women's participation in higher education influences gender relations and individual freedoms. It emphasizes on keeping in mind 'women's perspectives' in higher education research by foregrounding female students experiences of navigating societal expectations and educational challenges. Education is not culturally neutral but contains both explicit and implicit propositions and meanings that may change people's perception of reality. In addition, "Education is also valued both positively and negatively at the same time, according to position and power relations in family and society. Women with higher education engage in complex processes of change induced by the processes

of education. At the same time, they choose ways of maintaining a certain continuity with family and kinship values in how they construct and manage their lives as women." (Skjortnes and Heidi Holt, 2010) Education impacts several aspects of a women's lives e.g., opinion-building and confidence building in case they must protest for their rights in case of violation, though much of education role is not seen in changing social norms and value regarding women's role in society. (Awan, 2016) Educated women in Pakistan continue to face restrictions in areas such as marriage choices, divorce, unrestricted mobility, and inheritance rights. Furthermore, the level of education they attain influences the extent of their freedoms. Supporters of traditional values in Pakistani society still exert pressure to limit the achievements of all women, seeking to confine their activities to their homes, regardless of their educational level. (Awan,2016) Education is most crucial for growing women's confidence and awareness of their rights. Through this, women are capable of handling matters from various perspectives, strategize effectively, and address family concerns in a non-confrontational manner. (Noureen,2015)

These studies concern the education and women and how their education brought change into their lives such as empowerment, agency, and opportunities to connect with people. My research concern what is the meaning of education in the lives of educated women in Pakistan would help to see other positive changes they had in their lives or these above-mentioned benefits of education in the lives of women is different as my participants are unemployed.

2.3 Women and unemployment

I would also like to discuss some literature related to women and unemployment. These will concern about what does unemployment do to women. A study by Starrin and Larsson in which thirty-six women were interviewed is a contribution towards getting an understanding of the impact of unemployment on women. According to the results of the study, four groups of unemployed women were generated which are as follows the give-uppers, the clenchers, the refocusers, and the ambivalent. The group named the give-uppers had lost control of their life and the meaning of their days. For the give-uppers, the role of a housewife is not seen as something that they can replace as paid work. They also showed signs of a lack of confidence, hope, and life will. Another group and the largest one were the clencher. They had a great impact on their identity and mental condition. Unemployment brought them isolation and bad self-confidence. According to Marshall 'Unemployed women' are often neglected mostly the married ones. 'The concept of a

woman as 'unemployed' has been squeezed out between the spheres of paid and domestic labor'. It simply stand-ins between waged and unwaged work. (Marshal,1983)

A Research based on interviews about women's unemployment in Sweden was carried and the central point of it was how women were missing the daily structure in their life. According to the results of the research, women face no lesser adverse consequences of unemployment than men. Moreover, when it comes to identity, women felt that doing house chores does not provide them with self-identity it is only paid work that can help them create their personal identity and that they missed something productive in their life. it also concludes that 'Women's positive sense of self is greatly undermined by not having paid work.' (Davies, Esseveld, 1982)

Another research project conducted by Davies and Esseveld in 1985 deals with how women cope with unemployment and how important is paid work in their life. it included thematically generated interviews with 40 women. A positive aspect emerged which is that women do not have to worry about double shifts. At the same time, unemployment had a negative consequence as well, which is a sense of insecurity because they were unaware of their future. In addition, men's and women's coping mechanisms also vary. Caring for others in the family or outside is the coping mechanism for women still a sense of positivity about themselves was missing.

Personal and professional identities also hold considerable significance when discussion of educated, unemployed women is ongoing and how they renegotiate these identities. In relation to personal and professional identities, Lisa Smulyan's study of Redefining self and success: becoming teachers and doctors provides helpful insights of how women graduate from a liberal arts college navigate the complexities of personal and professional identities over a decade. The study suggests that the traditional or non-traditional is no longer applicable because these women actively reconceptualize their lives, identities, the meaning of success and significance of their chosen career. It states that, "Through these women's words we hear both a response to culturally produced social structures and discourses and a desire to try to reframe some of the meanings they have learned about women and careers." (Smulyan, 2004)

"Through the voices of the participants, we can begin to hear how women construct the meanings of career and success within the discourses available to them. It is in the process of negotiating or balancing these forces that these women may begin to contribute to a new set of cultural meanings,

problematizing what it means to have a career, to achieve success, and to be a working woman and trying to develop new discourses to explain themselves" (Smulyan, 2004)

These studies related to unemployment are important because they show what unemployment means for women. The studies I mentioned from European countries, alongside my research concerning Pakistan, might present two different views of unemployment for women. However, they also help in understanding what Pakistani women experience regarding employment in their lives, considering they are highly educated yet restricted from working due to previously mentioned reasons. These studies raise questions about whether education holds the same value when these women are unemployed and what aspects of their lives they miss. Overall, the studies would help me address the contradiction I aim to address in this research.

3. Theoretical framework

Feminist discussion on education and work of women

My research is situated within the feminist's discussion on women's rights to education and work. This discussion will establish the relevance of studying the experiences of educated unemployed women, illustrating how it remains pertinent within the historical debates surrounding women's rights to education and employment. Beginning with the earliest feminist work on women and education was made by *Mary Wollstonecraft with her work called "A Vindication of the rights of women, 1792"* Her book and overall work was mainly about the reforming the education of women in order to improve their political and social standings. (p.26)

She even published her work on education named "thoughts on the education of daughters, 1787" shows her interest in the theories of education. What reform she wanted in the education was the argument that women are equally rational as of a man. "Rationality is what claims moral agency and moral agency is what gives us claims to rights." (p.36) Wollstonecraft also argues that for someone to become moral agent, they must develop their 'rational abilities' to a level where they are able to have some improvement. (p. 36) Wollstonecraft's felt disheartened by the fact that education of women being ignored has led to women's mind 'weak' and 'unhealthy'. These Conditions have made women unable to take up the rights but according to Wollstonecraft as reform is needed in order to give women any political rights, 'Unhealthy states of minds' of women at that time was what motivated Wollstonecraft to write vindication of women's rights and her observation was that this could only be reformed through educational reforms. This observation of her meant that she needs to argue that women were as rational as men and they were not someone to be ruled over by their husbands or fathers. Moreover, this also entails the obligation to provide an explanation for why her contemporaries seem to prefer living in conditions like slavery, as well as delving into how inadequate education can diminish individuals' inclination towards seeking freedom and independence. (p.40)

"Contending for the rights of woman, my main argument is built on this simple principle, that if she be not prepared by education to become the companion of man, she will stop the progress of knowledge and virtue; for truth must be common to all, or it will be inefficacious with respect to its influence on general practice. And how can woman be expected to co-operate unless she

knows why she ought to be virtuous? unless freedom strengthen her reason till, she comprehends her duty, and see in what manner it is connected with her real good?" (Wollstonecraft 1995, 67).

Wollstonecraft's idea of moral agency through educational reform, or obtaining proper education, will help me analyze the meaning of education in the lives of unemployed women. Though, it is a classical study, it will aid in discussing and analyzing the narratives of unemployed women who, despite their lack of employment, still make use of their education and possess the moral agency and capabilities that Mary Wollstonecraft and other early feminists and activists fought for.

Moreover, second wave feminist works also plays an important role primarily, Betty Friedan's book "the feminist mystique, 1963" the problem that had no name. mainly discussing the lives of housewives in American society. she talks about this unspoken problem of the dissatisfaction and unfulfillment in their roles as mothers and housewives. Despite of having busy schedules and doing all chores they still had this question, is this all? Society and experts, advised on how to please their husbands, raise their children, and maintain their homes, but were discouraged from pursuing careers or higher education. "They learned that truly feminine women do not want careers, higher education, political rights--the independence and the opportunities that the old-fashioned feminists fought for" (The Feminist Mystique, p.16) "Sometimes a woman would say "I feel empty somehow . . . incomplete." Or she would say, "I feel as if I don't exist."

One of the quotes by Betty Friedan, taken from website states,

"The only way for a woman, as for a man, to find herself, to know herself as a person, is by creative work of her own. The key to the trap is, of course, education. The feminine mystique has made higher education for women seem suspect, unnecessary and even dangerous. But I think that education, and only education, has saved, and can continue to save, American women from the greater dangers of the feminine mystique." (The feminist Mystique, 1963)

This work of Betty Friedan shows how women during that time had no satisfaction and feeling of fulfillment in their lives just by living as housewives, doing the same house chore every day, following all the traditional roles the society expected them to do so, they still felt dissatisfied. It provides my research with a way to analyze my interview data to see if the social pressure is still exerted on Pakistani women just like in the time of second wave feminism. It would provide me with a base to start my study in order to analyze the experiences and narratives of unemployed

educated women living in Pakistan about their situation. Moreover, Maria C Lugones work, "not just so as to greatly increase the chances that true accounts of women's lives will be given, but also because the articulation of experience (in myriad ways) is among the hallmarks of a self-determining individual or community. There are not just epistemological, but moral and political reasons for demanding that the woman's voice be heard, after centuries of androcentric din." Will help in understanding women's experiences of their education and unemployment.

4. Methodology

4.1 Data collection

My MA thesis aims to gain insights into women's experiences of what education has meant and continues to mean to them in their changing life situations. It aims to understand how and in what way education plays its role in the lives of unemployed women. It aims to see in what other ways other than formal work, educations play its part in the lives of women. Moreover, it focuses to uncover the contradiction in being an educated women who is unemployed.

I conducted narrative interviews of six women in their 20s in Pakistan. According to Anderson and Kirkpatrick, 2016 'Narrative interviews are means of collecting people's own stories about their experiences'. People frequently narrate stories about the events in their lives as a means of making sense of them. The narrative method prioritizes the meanings that the subjects provide to their own stories and puts them at the centre of the research process. Therefore, narratives may more accurately capture the context and integrity of people's lives while we are researching them, learning about their experiences, and attempting to comprehend their lives than can surveys and graphs. This is why, I found narrative interviews to be the most suitable to explore the narratives and personal stories of women in relation to their education.

For interviews, I prepared a list of 16 questions with some sub-questions to ask from the interview participants (see appendix 2). The questions were structured in a way that will cover their past, present and future in terms of their education. It included questions regarding their educational journey and experiences of education and employment, if they had any, what they acquired through their education, their typical day in the past as a student and now. Their hobbies and activities in daily life. Questions regarding being outside formal work and issues faced related to unemployment were also asked. In some cases, the participants who did their internships or had some previous job experiences were asked about their experience of it.

Due to different geographical locations, the interviews were one-on-one via zoom audio call. Initially, I planned to conduct it via video call for a better interaction with my interviewees but due to the reason that my participants were hesitant to talk through video call, so I had to change the

requirement to audio as per my participants were comfortable. So, all participants were interviewed via zoom audio call.

The interviews were divided into two sessions. In the first session, I briefly introduced myself and my research. Then, I explained the information sheet (see appendix 1) and consent form. which they were sent before the interview. The first session lasted for 15 mins. The second session consisted of questions prepared for the interview (see appendix 2) and lasted 60 minutes.

For recruiting participants, I contacted the administrators of the 'Pakistani women only groups' on Facebook. These groups consisted of more than 42k people in it. The purpose of these groups is to provide support, information, sharing experiences, suggesting one another and growth for women. First, I explained about my research and the aim of my post to the admin, after they agreed, I posted my recruitment call. The aim behind using this platform was to reach as many women from diverse backgrounds, as I could. Initially, I was struggling to get an engagement on my post, so I also posted on Instagram account, and I recruited only one participant through it. After a few more postings in the group, I finally got a good response and recruited the rest of the 5 participants through these groups.

The recruitment process started in the beginning of November 2023 and the interviews were conducted in December 2023 till the first week of January 2024. As a result, six women agreed to participate in interviews for my research. I set the age criteria to be 23-35 for my research and all my participants were in their 20s. My research participants were all from main cities of Pakistan like Karachi, Lahore, and Peshawar. All of them had at least bachelor's level education as it was the requirement set for my interview participants. As the purpose of my study is to understand the meaning of education in the life narrative of unemployed women in Pakistan so my participants were all unemployed at the time of the interview except for one who was working remotely, and one was having her home-based business. All of them, except for one woman, had some working experience in a formal environment due to their degree requirement for example internships or being part of any project.

In my research, even though marital status did not matter but the results will have some variations as only one participant was married with kids. The rest of them had no kids and were living with their parents at the time of the interviews. During my research interviews, participants communicated in both English and Urdu. In the transcripts, I translated segments of the interview

conducted in Urdu into English, while leaving the English portions unchanged. This is because my thesis will be written and presented in English.

4.2 Analysis methods:

For Analysis, I used Thematic analysis method, "it is a method for identifying, analysing and reporting patterns (themes) within data." (Braun and Clarke,2006). My purpose for using this analysis method is to uncover every possible theme that emerged during the interview. The basic steps in the process of doing thematic analysis consist of Six phases as explained by Brain and Clarke.

Phase 1: familiarizing yourself with your data

The data's familiarity started after an individual interview, and I would reflect through the interview and the answers of my interview. It involved listening to the audio recording repeatedly to ensure I understood correctly. This process involved the transcription of the interviews. Through transcription, I was familiar enough with the main idea my participants had to share with me.

Phase 2: generating initial codes

During this phase, I first learnt the use of NVIVO, and tried understanding how to use it. I uploaded my six transcripts into it and keeping the research questions in mind I started with each transcript and highlighted the relevant quotes and forming codes by giving it a name. I also focused on the recurring concepts to make sure I cover everything.

Phase 3: searching for themes

By this phase, I developed many different codes, and I started the process of merging these codes under one broader theme. Giving the initial name to the theme that could cover every aspect of the codes present within was tough. Finally, I managed to develop several themes and by this time I could see what my discussion would lead to.

Phase 4: reviewing themes

After I changed codes into themes, I reviewed these and read the transcripts again to see if I had covered everything.

Phase 5: defining and naming themes

I carefully made definitions for each theme, ensuring they were precise and captured the essence of the data. Naming the themes briefly helped in conveying the findings.

Phase 6: producing the report

Lastly, the themes were synthesized into coherent narrative, the finding presented in structured manner, supported by relevant quotes from the transcripts.

4.3 Research Ethics:

When recruiting the interview participants for my research, I provided them with comprehensive details. First through the recruitment call posted in the groups I tried adding all the important details in it about the research. After I was contacted by the interested individuals, I provided them with an information sheet that included complete details regarding what the research is about, the process, data protection and management. Through this, I eliminated the risk of recruiting participants who may have felt uncomfortable sharing their experiences. They were told they could withdraw their consent if they feel uncomfortable during the interview or if they do not feel comfortable answering a question.

The data collected during the research like consent form, recorded audio tapes, transcriptions and translations will be kept safe. The researcher will use secure storage system called Seafile which is monitored by University of Turku. During the writing process of thesis, some data may be kept in researcher's laptop but it will be protected with password. Antivirus and security system will be installed to keep the data safe. All the research data will be discarded from the Seafile after the researcher graduates from University of Turku.

For privacy of my interview participants, their written interview data i.e. Transcripts is anonymized by using pseudonyms and by eliminating any details that may uncover their identity. Interview participants words will be cited in English which will also reduce the risk of identifiability. Participants were also informed that they can also get their transcripts to verify the accuracy. The researcher meticulously conducted the translation work to ensure precision and prevent any misrepresentation. Adherence to ethical standards was maintained throughout the

research, aligning with both The Finnish National Board for Research Integrity and the General Data Protection Regulation of the EU.

4.4 Participants' Information:

Noor: Noor, a 23-year-old recent graduate with a bachelor's degree in electrical engineering, is currently living with her parents. She is unmarried and, at present, does not have a job. Although Noor has no professional employment experience yet, she completed a 15-day unpaid internship, which provided her with some exposure to the field.

Eman: Eman, a 23-year-old recent graduate with a master's degree in Physiology, is currently living with her parents. She is engaged and planning to be married soon. Although Eman does not have a job at present, she runs a home-based business. Additionally, she has gained practical experience through an internship.

Dua: Dua, a 26-year-old, who has done MSc English literature. She is working remotely at present and has worked on site for 3 years. She is Nikkahfied, that Islamically, means legally married but according to the culture she has not yet moved to live with her husband. She has been through the phase of unemployment in her life.

Zahra: Zahra, a 29-year-old, she has done a bachelor's degree in pharm D. She also started her MPhil but couldn't continue it. She is currently not working professionally but engages in freelance work occasionally. She is unmarried and at present living with her family. She has previous professional work experience of about seven to eight months.

Gul: Gul, a 23-year-old, recent graduate with a bachelors in English language and literature. She is not currently employed. She is unmarried and living with her parents. She has gained experience of working as a teacher in a project-based job for about six months.

Arooj: Arooj, a 27-year-old, she has done Masters in classical Islamic learning (Alimah programme) which is religious studies. She is unemployed and has never been employed professionally. She is married and the only participant with children.

5. Analysis

5.1 Contradictions of being educated and unemployed

In this theme, I will center the attention on the past educational lives of the six educated unemployed women in Pakistan. Since these women are now graduated but unemployed; I would like to explore this contradiction of educated but unemployed. I will here analyze; how does these six educated unemployed women experience their past (Education) in their current lives.

5.1.1 Time wastage and financial dependence

From the interviews, my findings indicated that the interviewees felt their education was not very useful without employment, leading to a sense of wasted time and increased disappointment. My participants shared about their routine and compared it with their previous routines when they were pursuing education; stating that it has been different since then. It was different for them because they do not have anything productive to do. They are aware of how capable they are because of what they learnt from their education but due to unemployment, they have the feeling that their time and education are being wasted. Education and time wastage was distinctively explained by Noor as she understands the fact that it is not to blame her education for being useless but the conservative family that does not allow her to do a job. It is her education that has enabled her to look at things in a certain way. She thought it was her education that made her understand that 'this is time wastage,' the time when she is doing nothing productive. According to Noor's thought, a lot could be done with her routine, whereas other girls think that this 'unproductive routine' is expected of them as girls, she tells:

"Education makes me feel I am wasting my time. Because, I have education, I can say this, it is a waste of time otherwise, I have seen girls who thinks that this is their routine and don't consider it as a time wastage because they don't know the importance of ..umm because they have never experienced the things that their time can be utilized in many different ways. So, they do not really know that because I think it is because of the education I have that I can see that this is time wastage." (Noor)

Even though, Noor experiences many positive outcomes from her education in her current life but unemployed self is building this contradiction, at some point she feels her education is not a wastage but when she compares her current life in terms of employment she says, "The thing that I am experiencing these days is like I am wasting my time and so my education is not playing a very big role." (Noor) So, even though "the level of education women attain influences the extent of their freedoms. Supporters of traditional values in Pakistani society still exert pressure to limit the achievements of all women, seeking to confine their activities to their homes, regardless of their educational level. (Awan,2016) In the same way, Zahra also experienced that her education is getting wasted, the knowledge she gained cannot be utilized at home. She feels that after studying for 5 years becoming a Doctor of Pharmacy and 2 years of MPhil, she does not see her education being useful anywhere inside home. She mentioned about being an educated girl living in Pakistan:

"I studied this much, it could have been used somewhere and, I have interest in doing a job. So right now, I feel like there was no use of studying especially being a girl in Pakistan because a boy gets a lot of support that as you studied now you have to move forward. Do the job! do the job! And we are kept inside the home. so, it is like mixed feelings about this....... I have not noticed that my degree is giving me any benefits. Yes, if I was employed just like when I was working in (pharmacy) at that time It was beneficial but otherwise, by staying at home there is no as such benefits to me." (Zahra)

She also regrets leaving her job because of moral problems, because the type of job she was supposed to do did not feel right to her. So, she regrets saying that "I feel that I had something that time, so it was better. It feels like this. For now, I have nothing on my hands so that feels much bad....it feels good that I left that job, and I am doing nothing bad but on the other side, I feel bad that, if I had continued that job, I would have gone much further." (Zahra) She believes that if she had continued doing her job, her education might have been more beneficial, but it is not possible while staying at home.

Gul shares a similar experience from her employment of six months as a teaching assistant under best English teachers of the city, from that experience she learned a lot and gained a lot more motivation for becoming a teacher. But, as it was for only six months she had to leave and look for other opportunity but Gul similar to Zahra's and Noor's experiences, had to go through some challenges, her challenges according to her own words were more of a cultural norm, though her father was supportive of her doing a job but he had requirements on what kind of job she would do. Usually, a government job and that too of a teaching position is considered the best and most respectable one and rest of the jobs like typical 9-5 office jobs are considered low on position or not so suitable for girls and women. So, after her last employment experience she feels "nostalgic'. She says, "Right after that [her job for six months] I felt very bad because after that I wasn't able to find any other opportunity at all. I was applying to different colleges for jobs but no luck. You can say there was a kind of nostalgia because of working there. So that was also a lot." (Gul) She differentiates between education as on its own and in terms of employment and this also shows the contradiction:

"If I see it as a subject then I always feel very good that I opted and that I am very satisfied but yeah, if I see it through unemployment, then I feel like yes after studying this much, I mean at home it is being wasted. So, it is a mixed feeling. Motivation and disappointment." (Gul)

For her, employment is a source of connection with her education where she could use what was learnt in a professional environment.

"I have started to gradually forget about the things that I have studied, the courses I have studied. When I was in job so then frequently on and off, I had connection with my courses at some point I was applying the courses professionally." (Gul)

What I interpret from the interviews is that these educated women need something in their lives which would make them feel that they are doing something productive and useful. For most of them, it is employment through that they can gain a feeling of productivity in their routine. Dua is currently doing remote work but shares her experience from the time after graduation with no job. For her sitting idle does not settle with her, she wants something in life going on, whether it is education or employment. She says:

"I cannot sit free. I mean, I cannot sit at home doing nothing. From the very start I have had this habit. Either you have studies but when my studies were completed so I was totally free. I had nothing to do. Then, I applied for many jobs. and everybody has a different nature, so mine is that I cannot sit freely at home." (Dua)

In Dua's experience of employment, she is still unhappy with her employment situation financially, she feels having a master's degree gives you hope that you will be able to achieve many things in life but while living in Pakistan, it is not possible. She says, "In our Pakistan, one thing is the package, which is really low. If somebody gets a degree, they feel like they have done nothing. At that time, I had feelings that I would get lots of achievements, I could achieve something really nice. But. that has not happened yet so now my feelings are 'ok, well, I have got one degree.' That is, it." (Dua)

Likewise, Eman also experienced that sitting idle makes her feel so useless, as a home-based business owner, from the perspective of work, she finds meaning in doing what she does and feels productive but when she has less work to do, she feels useless. She says, "I don't have the habit of sitting idle because, if I sit idle for a while then I feel so much useless. Then, I feel like there is no one more useless creature than me. If I don't have orders, (this participant has a home-based artwork business) then, I slip into anxiety a little bit and I get lots of issues from this thing. For example, if I start getting less orders then, I am, like, I have to do something" (Eman).

For some, staying at home is equivalent to doing nothing in the context of their education, Zahra explains, "Right now, I am just home mostly. Sometimes, I do freelance but it is like on and off. So, I am just unemployed, like not really doing anything. Mostly just at home." (Zahra)

Financial constraints were also brought up by my interviewees when questions like, "do you think you are unemployed?" or "what problems do you face due to your employment status?" were asked. According to my interviewees, their financial status as individuals is linked to their overall value within the household. They feel embarrassed when they have to ask for money from any male member of the family. In Pakistani society, traditionally, a male member is responsible for managing the household expenditures. However, my interpretation is that their education has made them feel capable of earning independently and accomplishing many things on their own without asking for help. Despite their education and potential, their status as unemployed women leave them feeling frustrated. According to Zahra:

"One thing that I have observed is that if a person is employed so, that person is respected a lot. In this sense, I feel a little, that if was employed then at least I would have money for my own expenditure. Now, mostly I have to get it from my father or from my brother. So,

it is a thing you have to kill your heart that, no, not this or do this. I feel this a lot. If I had money of my own or some sort of savings, then I could buy whatever I wanted to. If going somewhere or to do something or do some course so you can do that without hesitation. But now, as I don't have anything like that so obviously you have to suffer." (Zahra)

My interpretation of what Zahra has to say is linked to the contradiction I am discussing here, though education for these young women is so important and they have attained professional degrees but while being unemployed, it is not that accomplishing. Gul shares her experiences from her short-term job that during that time she could buy things which she liked and that made her feel independent but in her current unemployed life, she feels dependent and has to ask for money. Perception on education for her changed during and after graduation, she quotes it as:

"You can say when you come into work life you have a completely different perception about your education. Then you want that your education should give you financial benefits while when you are a student you think, even if it is not financial, I can do this, I can do that, but, no you need financial support because you have to do further studies and you are at that stage that you can't tell you parents to support you for MPhil or for masters." (Gul)

Disappointments and motivations both were seen in her narration of being educated unemployed, she knows her self-worth and capabilities that were achieved and learned through education, educated women have motivation and hope to have in better because they have this sense that they have education and they can at some point find something for them but because of being unemployed they have doubts. Gul shares, "You start questioning yourself that am I not good enough to get a job? So, I can say that it is very disappointing but at some point ... even it is disappointing and hurtful... but at some point, this motivates you too that no, you must do something. You have to prove yourself. (But giggles) but motivation ones are less, and disappointments are more." (Gul)

5.1.2 The question of "what did you do after studying this much?"

Education and employment of women in Pakistan is regulated by "patriarchal practices, segregation of jobs and because of gender stereotypes and traditional attitudes." (Raza and

Murad,2010) and their "work and career are treated as a privilege that are they are 'allowed' for them to be happy." (Mohsin and Syed, 2020) What I analyze, from this is that education and especially employment is considered as an option, it is considered as a favor given to women by their society, culture, and male members of their family. Women according to these studies are able to do jobs outside home but with permission and this permission can be taken back from them at any point in their life mostly in cases when they are about to get married or unable to manage the double shift as stated by Mohsin and Syed, "gender equity at home is a problem because according to gender roles women had to do a second shift after their job that is house chores. Most women doctors would leave their jobs because it is difficult to manage both." (Mohsin & Syed, 2020).

Due to these restrictions imposed on Pakistani educated women; they face contradiction. The contradiction in being educated but unemployed. This contradiction is because they have professional degrees, skills and capabilities and are aware that they can improve their lives with a job. However, I found another reason causing this contradiction in the lives of educated unemployed women which is the expectations from them being educated women and the justification of the need for the education they attained. The traditional gender roles and expectation are persisting, and women are highly educated this has resulted in them being questioned for the purpose of their education as if their education were not their right at first place. They are being questioned for not using their degrees whereas these restrictions and roles and responsibilities are continuing. As Quoted by Sharma-brymer in the context of Indian society "as educated women they could do what they wanted to do but their experiences pointed out that they are compromising and adjusting within their internal and external space. The space of living as a traditional, educated woman in Indian society entails the choice of the educated woman to be so" (Sharma-brymer,). According to my interview data and analysis, my participants mentioned this struggle they have to go through where they are being questioned for the purpose of their education. As explained by Gul, who is currently unemployed, she says:

"Sometimes, when you go somewhere people usually taunt you that, 'what did you do after studying that much?' you know the Pakistani typical society. If you do something, there is a problem and if you don't, they then have a problem. So, what was the need to study that much? So, this happens sometimes. This also hurts. You also think that what have I done with my degree?" (Gul)

On the one hand, Gul is being restricted to do certain kind of jobs, being encouraged to think of bigger goals, give Central superior services exam (CSS), and have government job, which is achievable but takes a lot of hard work and time. Because of this, she struggles to find a suitable job, but she is being asked the importance of her education when she is not doing any job.

Zahra, in her current unemployed life, has to go through a comparable situation to Gul's.

"It is from my relatives that I get to hear criticisms that what did you do after studying that much. Because in our family, if I see in both maternal and paternal relatives it is us two sisters who got to study this much. Our parents provided us with education, others have not provided their girls with education. So, this is one thing, I get to hear a lot that my sister is a doctor in a good position. (Zahra)so, I get to hear that 'what did you do after studying this much?' You are still sitting at home. I mean it hurts a lot that I am not sitting at home because of my own will but I am trying." (Zahra)

Zahra had to leave her MPhil program before completing her research due to financial constraints and the need to care for her ill father. She faced job rejections and had to avoid certain positions due to environmental concerns. Despite her circumstances, Zahra frequently encountered the question, "What did you do after studying this much?" In her experience, she and her sister were the only two girls in their family to attain such a high level of education. While her sister holds a good position and is employed, Zahra remains at home, facing the contradiction of being educated yet unemployed.

Similarly, Eman running a home-based business also faces the same contradiction, even though she is running a business but, because she does not go out to earn either in her field related job or anywhere outside the boundaries of home. She faces what she calls an "emotional turmoil" and then she feels she should be going out to earn and has recently started to look for jobs as preprimary teacher for a short duration because she will be leaving it before her marriage.

"When someone tells me that you should do a job you have to pursue a career, when you have taken a degree. You should do something in the field or at least you should go out and earn because mostly they don't really think that I earn, and I am just depending on my parents and staying at home. So just when they say to me then there is like emotional turmoil and I start to think I should do some job, I should do some work, I should go out.

Other than that, I am chill about this......I want to do a job. I want to go out because last week I told you there were some relatives who came and who were like oh you are not doing a job' and that hit me... that hit me really badly and I was like crying and all 'no I want to do job' at that time I was like no! No! I want to do a job." (Eman)

Providing a context to make an argument, Eman's subject is related to field of physiology for employment she had two options she could go for teaching or laboratory work. She was not interested in getting into the profession of teaching and laboratory work required people from microbiology or biochemistry and if not, they required experience. When I asked about why she chose this subject she said she was good at science but also mainly because her mother wanted her daughters to go into science fields. The problem I also visualize is the involvement of family members and parents in subject selection, they want the girls to go for highly valued subjects like field of medicine, engineering or any profession related to teaching. What is not seen is what the individual interested in? And now she is unemployed and being questioned about the same thing as Zahra and Gul were.

"Just like many people now, when I go out in gatherings and all everyone is like "oh why did you study this much if your never wanted to do job in this field?" Why did you study this much?" (Eman)

They are being questioned about the need for their study when they are unemployed. My interviewee, who is happily unemployed with a master's degree in classical Islamic studies has to face certain questions or biased attitude towards her in social gatherings. She says:

"If you go to social gatherings, so they ask you, 'what are you doing nowadays?' And then you say, I am a stay-at-home Mom. And they are like 'oh, OK.' so, then it feels like a prejudice and biasness. But other than that, there is nothing. Soo, it is not its difficulty or so, but it is one thing that I noticed. It makes socializing difficult because when you meet new people, they get immediate bias in their minds against you." (Arooj)

Even though, Arooj is happy with her being unemployed and following the traditional roles of a family where a husband earns, and a wife takes care (work for) of the family and house she has to go through a similar contradiction what other interviewees had to go through. Arooj shares her experience:

"I mean there is one thing, I do not know, at one time it used to impact me a lot. Now, it does impact on me but then I stopped going to such gatherings where, I knew, I would face biasness. Because the environment makes a lot of difference, I feel like this has happened a lot of times to me, especially if you go to a new gathering. You do not really know, and then they are like "ok. what have you done?" to tell them, OK, I got married young and I have Kids and I am not actively working, even though like I do have interest and hobbies and things that I can pursue and then they are like 'okay fine', like not hang out the next time? I mean it is a little bit biased. If you hang out with such people who think, ok, if you are not working then you are wasting your time. If you're not working, what have you done in your life? Then if you hang out with such people Then you start feeling less of yourself. It is better just not to hang out with such people to like you. The solution for this is that you stop going to such places and you stop meeting such people and just interact with likeminded people." (Arooj)

From Arooj's experience, the questions that these educated Pakistani women have to go through make them feel less of themselves and their education overall. By asking them, what have you done after studying this much is such demotivation for women.

Due to being questioned for the worth of their education when they are unemployed or unemployed in the eyes of the society these educated women have gone through the experience of losing their confidence, connection with people and the skills they learnt during their education.

My interviewee also shared about losing connection with people due to unemployment because previously they were having a chance to meet and talk to people in their university life but after graduation, they have lost that, and they also do not have job to fulfill that missing part from their educational lives. Noor shares her experience:

"You know because I have lost any kind of connection with everybody and no frequent connection...I face the loss of loss of communication skills and being extreme introvert as I used to be a good chit chat kind of girl back in my university days and now, I am really not that kind of girl. I just skip the relatives gathering now. (Noor)

In a similar way, Eman also shares from her educational experience that gave her the confidence because she used to go out and meet new people, having a conversation with them. So, according to her, if she had a job outside the home, she would be in a better place than she is now financially and in terms of socializing. Due to being questioned about education without employment, they have become less interested in socializing. What also came into attention was being 'unable to relate in a discussion' this was brought up by both Noor and Eman as they discussed their friendships and how do they feel meeting with them after graduating from university. They both first said that they meet their friends not so often now because everyone is busy in their own life and have jobs. As shared by Noor, she says I am just a listener in a gathering:

"I feel um, bad because I do not have any colleague stories, job stories then u know I am just a listener in that gathering and it happened recently In November, I told you, we all met for our degree forms, so everybody had stories from their jobs, I had none. I have no colleagues and they all have colleagues, and they all have new friends and new stories, and their life is moving, and I am I feel stuck I have no stories but yeah." (Noor)

Noor, because of being educated unemployed feels that her life is stuck because she has nothing new to tell her friends from university. She starts comparing herself with her friends and says that their life is moving but not hers. Similarly, Eman also experienced feeling useless when meeting her friends from university.

"When you don't have a job so usually when you go out so when people are sitting together and discussing like their job experiences, and I stay quiet and say what can I tell? I don't have anything to say job related at that time I feel like ok yeah, I am not doing a job or not good enough. So, I feel a bit useless." (Eman)

In the same way, jealousy and anxiety were also experienced by my interviewees upon meeting their university employed friends.

"It feels good to be meeting a friend but it is clear that they are all at good place so a little bit of I mean jealousy is there. What if something happened and I could have also been there, but it is good that at least the other person is getting successful. (Zahra)

"I can say, I get anxiety because, I feel like they are doing something with their life that I am not doing." (Gul)

These educated women feel that their life could have been better if they had secured a good employment. Having a job would have made their life at ease, providing them at least with the feeling that their education is being worthy, and they have something to do in their lives. Moreover,

they also feel that they would be valued more if they had a job. according to Arooj's thoughts her choice of staying at home makes people look down upon her. She thinks that this generation has now developed a different mindset that if a woman is not working, she is wasting her potential. While rest of the participants experiences tells that they are losing the potential they gained through education opposing to Arooj's thoughts on the need of work for keeping their potential Arooj shares her thoughts:

"I think now comparatively like 10-15 years before and now our generation has a mindset like if you are not working you are basically wasting your potential. So, the people that I interact with, at many places, I feel that just because I'm staying at home by choice, there a lot of people look down upon me because I'm not actively working and that is what I don't get that why do they have a mindset like that, but apparently it a very normal now I feel that in our generation has developed this mindset that ok if have education then why don't you utilize it? And why are you not working?" (Arooj)

5.1.3 Finding the alternative!

Some of the participants expressed the need to find other ways of doing something productive in their lives after graduation. The Jobs related to their degree required them to go outside home for work but due to family restrictions on women working outside home, they were not allowed to do so. One of my interview participants tells, "I was seeing a few opportunities to grow towards them, but because of this patriarchal society, I couldn't go towards them......" (Noor) She narrates about her past when she was still a student, they had discussions on jobs market, skills and demands of industry at the university, during that period, she wanted to do a job in order to have salary and savings for her goals in life which can be achieved through earning and for earning she needs a job:

"I have a goal of buying a house for myself and my mom so for that I need to earn and when I need to earn, I have to find another way so for that I have, you know, reimagined a few things. I looked for, I searched for things to work from home and to search for remote jobs......So now I have to shift my learning path, my learning career, I have to shift to get a remote job. So, I will look towards coding or content writing or social media marketing

something like that.... things that can be done remotely. So, I have to change my learning path." (Noor)

All my interview participants had professional degrees, Noor having an electrical engineering degree realizes that she chose a path of education where she is supposed to go out for work and getting a job from home in her field of study is not possible, but due to restrictions from family, she is unable to do a job. Even though she realizes how her education provided her with different skills and knowledge but not getting a job is problematic for her. What I realize here is that in her life education is supported as she never mentioned about difficulties accessing her education or the field of education but what seems to be the problem for her is going out to earn, which is so common in a Pakistani society. Education for women is 'Decorative thing with no emancipatory effect as education for girls does not mean financial independence but rather focuses on the value of women having a proper educational foundation, mainly for marriage purposes' (Moazzam and Sheikhani, 2018) My analysis agrees with the argument on education not being for the purpose of financial independence but what goes against is that it does have an emancipatory effect for these women, she was given with skills and knowledge that now she can use to change her leaning path, this will be discussed in detail in the next section. As Noor says, "I am capable of learning new things and you know, I mean, I am not dumb and dull." (Noor) This shows, she is aware of her capabilities and skills that she can be able to learn new things to be able to start some work from home.

Their Educational life gave these women a chance to do something in their daily routines for instance, learning a new skill, handling different situations, or working on any academic tasks. It had made their routines and schedules occupied. Though after graduation, as now they have no university related tasks, they have felt their life is monotonous. Zahra explains:

"I miss a lot is the chance of doing something new daily. Now it is such a monotonous life as I know when i wake up tomorrow, it will be the same thing. So, there is nothing, I mean to do something new you get the excitement that you will do something. When we used to go to the hospital (During her studies) so we were dealing with different cases and situations or dealing with something new. It is early, sometimes late. So, this one thing I miss a lot. So, even if I had a job there could be something new, I mean a new work task or project or to meet someone. this is one thing which I miss a lot." (Zahra)

While she shared what she missed about her educational past, she also shared that she had been applying for different job opportunities, but due to one reason or another she could not get the job. She mentioned further that certain jobs have an "environment issue." With this she means a job that is not suitable or safe for a woman to work in, in most of her field related jobs, boys are preferred. Now she says the gap has increased and it is getting difficult to get a job. But still she is motivated to study further and complete her master's which she had to leave because of her father's illness and financial constraints.

"I still want to study further and do a job. I mean, I look for scholarships that I can get somewhere. At least move out of Pakistan so if you go out of here then you have lots of opportunities. I can use my degree in many ways. While living here, it seems difficult, but I must do it in sha Allah. I have thought about it... at least I will complete my master's after that rest is up to Allah." (Zahra)

According to Zahra, "Because, I was not getting anything from there (from the degree she attained) then I joined freelancing." (Zahra) she misses the new things to do in her daily life that was possible during her education. Like Noor's plan of changing her learning path; Zahra considered freelancing as a content writer and designing to have the feeling of doing something new. She says:

"It acts as a distraction. Mostly we are at home. And my father is also ill. So mostly, I am depressed. So, with this [freelancing] you get a little bit of distracted. When you talk to another person your mood may lift up. you get new ideas that you can do this or make this. It is good in this way. It is like 'If the window is open, air comes in; otherwise, there is suffocation in a closed room.' So, it is just in this way." (Zahra)

I also observed that my participants have anxiety about their future after graduation. This anxiety about the future is due to inactivity. During their education period, they felt active and less stressed about their future as compared to now. As described by Gul, "There wasn't much to stress about [while she was still studying] in a sense that I am doing nothing now I am stressed about this. With Gul facing stress about her future now, she is trying to let her potential out that she gained through

her education, she had started working on some projects voluntarily as an organizer. She admits that these are not supporting her financially, but it is still helpful for her in terms of networking and friendships that previously she had through her education. she explained:

"I am doing some projects because now I can't stay seven days a week at home. It is always depressing. So, in the start there was a lot of depression built up. I started getting anxiety about my future." (Gul)

Eman's narrative provides a different view, as she had been working since her university days as a home-based business owner. For her, after education, she has enough time available to get her business orders completed in time. For Eman, it seems like, after university, life had been in favor for her, as she had her work path cleared from the very beginning of her university days. she is interested in doing this work in future:

"Now obviously there is no university life, so, I have too much time that I am done completing the orders before deadline. So, after that I have enough time that I can do my house chores easily otherwise before it was like with university and doing orders so there were many clashes like delayed delivery of orders. And that at that time workload was more but workload is less nowadays or maybe I feel more because I have more time now, I do not have university to go to." (Eman)

But similar to Noor and Zahra but with a different reason she seems to be interested in learning other things in life it could be because she chose the field of science primarily because it was her mother's wish from her to follow the field of science, but she had been interested in business and graphic designing from the beginning. She says:

"I had this that after completing this degree I will opt for any other degree but not any field of science. but till now I have made no adjustments. I am looking forward for doing something other than this like diploma in digital marketing or something like that." (Eman)

Despite of the fact that Eman runs a home-based business and earns from home without needing to go out which means living up to the societies and cultural expectations, she faces another challenge which is the type of work a woman does, is it in accordance with her education. She shares that it often happens at home, with siblings or relatives etc. When someone is assigned a

task to do, they usually tell her to do the work because she had been at home the entire day. So, because of this Eman feels that "I don't go out, I don't do any work." Eman, being a physiologist and doing a business though she has interest in doing what she does has to go through this challenge where her work is not considered work because she does it from home. The concept of what is considered as an employed is different according to different people, what Eman had to experience from within her home was employment should be something for what she has to go out of her house. This might relate to the fact that women's work by staying at home is not counted as work despite challenging the traditional notion of what constitutes work. "The categories of 'paid employment' and 'domestic labor', as used by many feminists, have come to be exhaustive of the possibilities for conceptualizing the work situation of women." (Marshall,1984)

Contrasting to what Noor, Zahra, Gul and Eman's thoughts and experiences, Arooj mentioned the concept of traditional family. She belongs to a family where the wife is supposed to stay at home and raise the kids. For her, education is something she always wanted to get, but not for the purpose of earning or employment. But only because she felt that it is good to be educated. She was happy and content with her decision to follow the traditional way of family. What I also observe is her definition of what counts as a work. She says:

"And I also feel like in the end, all of it comes around to money. Ok, why are you working? Because I want to earn or why are you working? Because I want to travel. Why are you working? Because I want to afford sorts and such things for myself so the thing that I tried to make quickly realize is if you are getting all of this without working then why do you need to work?" (Arooj)

She adds on further:

"To be very honest, I am very, very thankful that I have the support system and I have a husband who can provide for me, and I can stay at home and be completely, completely chill about it and be completely relaxed. I don't know where the money is coming from. I'm completely happy. I don't have to work 9:00 to 5:00 and think, OK, I need to Earn this much to make sure my house is taken care of, I simply go to my husband, I ask him, I need this much money. He does give it to me. He doesn't ask me how I spend it. Like what more can you ask for? (Giggles)" (Arooj)

In her definition, work is the typical 9 to 5 that a person does in a professional environment. which for her goes against the family value she described while choosing her educational path Aswell. It aligns with Zahra's definitions of what employment is, "According to my opinion, employment is something that makes your time set. Like 9 to 5 or like 8 to 4. in this way, it is like your routine is set. You know you have to go and get out of home and work. So, it is like definition of employment. (Zahra)

For Arooj, there are some boundaries that she needed to keep in mind for example not to get into certain field of study because those are against of Islamic values as well as due to the co-education system in most of the universities in Pakistan. She adds, "even though I wanted to go into a creative, I wanted to pursue something creative. a lot of creative fields here, like a lot of creative fields everywhere, are not very Islamic So like if you for example go into fashion or if you go into photography or like filmmaking, like a lot of things are not religiously like, they don't, they do not harmonize with what our beliefs are." (Arooj)

Moreover, her finances are managed by her husband, and she is supported completely. Her thoughts on the purpose of work after education seem to be the result of traditional values and strong financial support. Arooj's experience of her life after education gives us different view of the experience of unemployed educated women. It looks like for her education matters because it is good to be a knowledgeable person, to be able to teach her kids and also towards her identity of being an 'Alimah.' (Explained in Positive outcomes of being educated)

Contradicting the education and employment meaning for Arooj, Gul explains, "I am unemployed because I don't have an official job to support my finances. I am not taking care of my finances; I am getting money from my parents." (Gul) Even for Eman who is running a home-based business, she thinks financially: "If I think like financially, so, financially I would have been at a better place because business and a job are together then, obviously I would have earned better." (Eman) While they had similar thoughts on what employment is and what is it needed for but due to different backgrounds its meaning for each is different.

5.2 Positive outcomes

This theme aims to answer the research question that states, "what are the specific ways educational experiences of unemployed women brings positive changes in their lives" I will

discourse how these women experienced their educational life and how is it meaningful for them in their present-day life?

After all the feminist/activists struggle for the women's right to education and work, till the present day, though many improvements have been made, it is still important and a relatable discussion. My interviewees shared how they have been able to improve many areas of their lives through their educational experiences and these improvements are not always the material things in life but the intangible things. While doing the analysis, I will consider the social-cultural context of Pakistan, patriarchal structures, and biased norms and expectations in terms of education and employment in the experiences shared by research interviewees.

5.2.1 Skills acquired through education

From interviews, my findings indicate that my participants have experienced the 'ways to communicate' through education. They shared about the diverse ways their communication skills improved through their educational experiences. Communication skills, for them, are crucial in different context; for some of these, communication skills helped them to present their thoughts and views effectively, some have been able to perform well in the job interviews, some came out of their introversion. In my interpretation of the themes, I find that they have linked their knowledge with communication skills because according to most interviewees, the knowledge gained through their education has made their communication skills better. It appears that the knowledge they gained through their education has given them "a sense of confidence" to present their views and opinions in social gatherings. It is consistent with the conclusion drawn by Noureen and Awan's study, that emphasized the phenomenal changes brought by education like elevated confidence and better status in family and society. (Noureen and Awan, 2011). Other than knowledge, education has provided these women to be in an environment where they can also improve their learning abilities, as Eman shares her thoughts:

"It helps us in a way that if we are sitting and talking in between four people so we have this much knowledge that we could communicate on that topic if it is related to our field. In fact, if it is not related to field, so many times while we are studying, we are also taught about other things. It is not necessary that we are only taught about things related to the field. (Eman)...... I can see the skill of like speaking just like I can speak on certain topics, current situations that are ongoing in this world of ours (Eman)"

Eman talks about her communication skills improved because of the knowledge she gained through her education. She mentions being taught about other things when she was getting her degree. She says that it is not only the knowledge she achieved related to her field but also other things which are not related to her field of study. With other things, she means the ways you interact with people, and you learn from them. It could also be the manners and behaviors taught by the teachers during that period. This field and non-field related knowledge improved her communication skills and made her capable of communicating on certain topics while being part of any gathering.

One of the interviewees put it beautifully, "You learn the ways to talk through education." (Gul) She also indicated her specific degree and overall education improved her knowledge with political discussions and English vocabulary and reading as her Specific field of study required her reading lots of novels and, while she was Preparing for CSS (Central superior services) exams, she had to keep herself updated with current issues through reading newspapers. As a recent graduate who has just completed a short-term project-based job, Gul is currently seeking new job opportunities. This experience has taught her valuable conversation skills for job interviews. When asked about her feelings regarding her education, she shares her insights:

"The language helped me a lot in my interviews. In the places they selected me was because of my education, due to my language" "You know, the way to talk professionally and casually, so there have been many changes because of those things." (Gul)

Likewise, Zahra also states that "one of the most prominent skills that I learnt was of communication......So, I feel like my communication skills have improved a lot." While Zahra talks about her communication skill being improved, she also adds about some sort of "fear;" with fear I believe the fear of speaking. She tells:

"There was fear inside. a lot of fear that I already have this fear and I am asked to come forward. But my communication skills developed in this. Now, I can talk well with people." (Zahra)

"I as a leader used to speak on behalf of them (group fellows) and, if we needed to bring something or take something, or to talk to the teacher. Other than this, if we were going somewhere, they brought me forward because I can talk well. (Zahra)

She shares her experience of her university's time when she was a leader of her group, these groups were made by teachers to perform some sort of laboratory work. It shows that education provided her with this opportunity where she developed her skills and made her come forward more often and speak on behalf of others. This developed her communication skills a lot better and that now she can speak well. In her current life this is also proving to be beneficial for her as she does some freelance work and for that she must communicate with customers. I observe that her education provided her with space and support to overcome her fear, which in other scenarios would not be the case. In one part of the interview when I asked Zahra, "Share how your education contributed to the way you have grown as a person?" She shared that:

"Initially, we used to stay at home and not meet people but when we entered pharmacy (the subject) we got to know about people. Due to this we developed sympathy and empathy because we used to stay in between patients. how to be sensitive of how you talk to elders and youngers. Your voice and tone. I mean your body language all of this developed a lot because of this (Education)" (Zahra)

Here, she is referring that even just going to the educational institution provided her with opportunities to meet people. It could be the "other things" that Eman referred to.

Another interview participant brings forward the difference between being an illiterate and literate person. As she commented:

"When you have education then, I feel like, you think before you speak, just like if we are sitting in a gathering, and you see two people there, one who is illiterate and one who is literate. The illiterate will say anything without thinking. If an educated person is sitting, there that person will never say anything without giving it a thought. That person will have valid points, right? So, I feel like you get calmness in you, being an educated person. You think before you say, and you know what point to adjust where." (Dua)

Calmness through education is what appears to be in the thoughts of Dua, for her the difference between literate and illiterate is evident, her statement shows confidence in self by being a literate person and makes a general comparison between communication ways of literate and illiterate. Her bringing up the comparison was quite different than the rest of participants contradicting to it, Arooj says, from her experience, 'It is not necessary that you have education; your manners and upbringing also make a significant difference.' She said this in relation to her mother's education, who was the least educated in her in laws but the most stood out one because her mother was civilized. Both these narrations give us an overview of what they might think of their life without education, for Dua she imagines her life without education having lack of sensible speaking skills while for Arooj, education is not necessarily but more of manners and behaviors learnt from the beginning.

Not only this, but the feeling of having a voice was also shared by my interview participants. They share that being educated has given them the ability of critical and reflective thinking and to present their point of views on worldly matters. Over here they did not mention anything about speaking for themselves if they had personally had to face any injustices due to social or cultural norms or the patriarchal structure in Pakistan but about outside the sphere of their home. I see this important for them to have a voice to speak and for that they need the knowledge and capabilities their education has provided. The quote by Gul adds into this:

"It helped me with my communication skills. really a lot. I would say the 21st century challenges we are going through, so communication matters a lot. If it is through social media or if it is through direct communication or print media but communication matters. You should know the way to communicate what you want to, to make your voice heard by people. So, that I would say helped me a lot in my communication skills, my soft skills." (Gul)

My interview participants previously mentioned the skill of communication they learnt from education; besides this, they talked about some skills they learnt in their educational life. For interviewees, the educational institution offered them extracurricular activities to learn and develop new skills and find their potential. For some interviewees, they felt that they had those

skills from the beginning, but education refined those skills and talents. "I was always, I always had this, this creative bug and these places just help enhance those." (Arooj)

For Arooj it seems like she does not think of key role of her education in developing those skills and talents, but rather refined those, though, she had those skills and what she calls it as 'creative bug' from her mother, but educational institution provides these women with those opportunities, space to enhance their talents. To know their capabilities to the fullest,

Arooj's experience shows:

"When I was in college, I was in the journaling club, and then I was part of, like, another club So, a lot of these things helped broaden my perspective. Like how I can use other things and how I can, like, do stuff at home. But like more large scale, even now I design stuff on Canva like I do a lot of stuff on canvas. So that is I learned those during my Madrassa [Islamic educational institution] years." (Arooj)

This gets back to the concept of a 'broadened perspective,' and not only the knowledge as previously discussed but the extracurricular activities help in it. As Arooj is Happily not working, she is looking into other ways that she can utilize these skills that she has had refined within the boundary of her home. She is not earning from these activities but helping her by giving independence. She shares from her life:

"There were times when I just lost the will to do stuff like when I had my kids and I had my postpartum Depression was just like, I don't want to do anything. I just... I just don't want to live, I am done with this Life uh, so, but the thing is that creativity was something that always helped me identify and something that I always feel is my own like it's not something that is my family. Or not something that's my kids or it's not something that's my husband. It is something that I like and it's something that I'm appreciated for. It is something that I am good at, so, It is my own thing. something that gives me independence in a way I would like to say." (Arooj)

Participating in these extracurricular activities and even academic tasks such as presentations enhanced their confidence. "When you participate in that (extracurricular activities) it always like, it brings confidence in you, when you give presentation in your bachelor's journey; it brings confidence......if I wasn't educated, I would have missed all these opportunities." (Gul)

Gul seems to not imagine the skills she has now without her education, she shares her story from her last professional work experience, where she was present in some ceremony and the presenter host got absent and she was the one who was asked to come forward and handle the presentation. That is when she felt incredibly happy and appreciated by her friends for giving a nice presentation on the spot. She feels that it was her education, that prepared her for this and gave her the confidence, not only this she feels that it was because she was a major in English language, but she was also given preference because of that.

5.2.2 Personal Growth

Throughout the interview data, women shared the positive outcomes of their education. Interviewees shared their feelings of gratitude for being educated, being able to have exposure in life, a broader horizon, self-improvement, becoming an approachable person and being able to use education for children. They expressed confidence in their education. They expressed self-awareness of them being educated and the realization of the importance of the time they had spent in their educational institution. When I asked Noor "how do you feel about your studies today? she answered:

"I do not perceive my education as useless because I know how educated I am, and I know the way I think and look at things it is because of my education so that was phase (a phase where she perceived her education as useless)"

She uses the term useless to clarify that despite being educated unemployed she still does not consider her education as useless but mentions a phase where she felt that way. She goes through these phases of disappointments of not being able to do the job, but she is aware of her self-worth because of the education, she continues:

"Otherwise, I am very positive about it (education) and I am very grateful of things I have learned and not just the technical things that I have learned the behaviors that I have learned while sitting in an institution for 4 years for about 8 hours of my day I spent there it has developed me into a very different being." (Noor)

She knows the value of the opportunity the educational institution provided her with, developed her in different ways, especially intellectually. She says, "I know what I have learned from education. From educational institute I know the importance. One of my elder brother never got into university so he does not know what kind of environment that is and that is why he is conservative because he has not experienced it so that is why you know umm if someone has not experienced it so they have a different view different opinion about it and the people who have experienced the thing they have a different opinion about it so now and I have experienced it I will not think of education as something worthless it is always worthy." (Noor)

Her statement shows her denial of patriarchy in a way she differentiates between herself and her brother and links it to the experience of education. For her education is what made her to look the things as she looks at them now, she values the experience and understands the fact that if someone has not experienced education, they will think of it as a negative thing.

Education for these women is not only for attaining a degree but they feel that it is about knowing your capabilities and potential through the education. Through the experience of education, they could know who they are and what else they are able to do in their lives. Zahra indicates this:

"I mean, I came out of myself. I made friends and I got many leadership positions. This way, it remained a nice experience for me. To come out of yourself, to explore your own self. To meet and greet people. Other than this we had good connections with our seniors. We had sports and we used to participate in that. so, this is a really nice experience if you are searching for yourself... you can get out with friends and all that." (Zahra)

These statements from Zahra 'I came out of myself.... To come out of yourself, to explore your own self..... if you are searching for yourself' shows the changes education brought in her. She describes herself as an introverted person during the interview and acknowledges her time in university, enabling her to express herself by interacting with people in university and the time spent with friends. If it were not for this experience of education, she would never be able to understand her true potential and self. Arooj also shared her thoughts about her education experience; her description combines what Noor and Zahra say about their educational experiences, but for Arooj, she describes it as the exposure through education:

"It gave me exposure because, when you interact with a lot of people, you experience a lot of things. Umm, you experience different people, you experience different ways of thinking, experiences, different lifestyles, and you become, I think, more accepting and you become more forgiving which is nice I believe." (Arooj)

According to Arooj, any education that a person gets be it secular, religious or any skills gives you a perspective. According to her, education gives you options to go for in case of need and she relates it to education because through education she could make friends, colleagues, and teachers. As Arooj is a mother of two kids, she shares experience from that point of view. For her the concept of education broadens you as she is now aware of how to use the internet, YouTube, websites, and who to ask for help if needed while teaching her kids. She discusses her experience of education from a different point of view, as she has a background in religious studies. According to her thoughts and what I as a woman from Pakistan has also come across this mentality that a "maulvi or mullah" (Islamic cleric) is uneducated because in Pakistan, studying in a reputable university and a degree in medicine and engineering is only encouraged. so, for her:

"Education is very important in addressing that also (maulvi or mullah is uneducated). Yeah, just because I am more inclined towards Deen (Religion). I am someone who covers (in terms of clothing), I do pardah (veil), but that does not mean I am uneducated, I am uncivilized. So, I want to and I think that's a very good perspective and that's something that you should be doing...... because that makes you more approachable so people approach you more, people are more accepting because then you can back it up with facts that you can back it up with Knowledge." (Arooj)

For Arooj, the religious knowledge she had through her education is helping her now to become a more approachable person. She feels that she has that knowledge about religious matters and if she is in a situation where she must deal with some arguments, she is confident enough to answer them with the facts. Moreover, Arooj discusses her education being meaningful in terms of improving her children's life, as she is the only interviewee with children, so her perspective adds to this research. She says, "it has helped me improve my children's life, it has made it easier for me to help them connect to Islam more and at a younger age." (Arooj)

Education for her is crucial in her current life because her children are at the age which are the foundation years for learning, her children have developed a love for learning after seeing her

mother learning especially in this case reference to religious studies this is one of the reasons she is immensely grateful for her studies.

Growth in knowledge was expressed by my interviewees and findings indicates that knowledge for them is to think critically to make decisions, to decide what is good and bad for them, in short having autonomy over their life. As my participants have higher levels of education it might show that there is a link between education and autonomy 'graduate level education results in more autonomy contrary to the women with less level of education, yet the autonomy varies depending on women.' (Agha and Tarar, 2018) Noor's answer on asking about her feelings when she was pursuing her education, clarifies, 'I was feeling like I was growing in knowledge which perhaps in other circumstances; if I had not got this knowledge my brain would not be that working.' (Noor) Further in the interview she adds that, "I think it is because of the education I have, I know, how and what is good for me and what is the right decision or what is wrong decision and when to take a decision and when to speak for myself. When to stay quiet and all this is personal growth, and this is because of the education I have." (Noor)

For some knowledge through education is for their consciousness (ability to think and understand) Eman's thoughts gaining knowledge through education is not to get into professional employment though she accepts the fact that most people attain education for the purpose of employment but for her education is for her own consciousness. In her opinion, people can get employed even without having the education for that, the thought behind this may be the reason that she is currently running a home-based business with an education in a different field. She puts her thoughts this way:

"I studied this [her field of study] not because I will do a job in this field, but I studied for my own consciousness, to increase my own knowledge. I studied for my own growth" (Eman)

Knowledge through education for some women is about impact on your mindset, Gul shares her story of her educational journey. Initially, she was asked to go for medical profession, she tried two times but could not pass the test, then she was imposed to go for CSS (Competitive examination) and for that one must have good command in English. She then chose to do her bachelor's in English literature and language. She was not interested in studying this subject in the beginning but what changed her mind as she tells:

"During my degree when I got the scholarship, and I got the chance to go out and study about these subjects then I got to know that this is very interesting. literature is really vast and interesting, and it is a kind of subject that impacts your future or life philosophy.it impacts a lot on your mindset because when you read books about philosophers, authors then it somehow impacts your life." (Gul)

When discussing the extracurricular opportunities provided by education to these women, they expressed the role of their teachers in identifying their potentials. Teachers could play the role for the women as a role model or as someone who could help them in pursuing their potential. They could offer these women with opportunities to access that could help them in their skills what can help them other than formal employment. For Noor, her teacher's recognition of her potential made her join different societies in her university. She felt that:

"Teachers can see the potential in you that you cannot even see in yourself sometimes. teachers see the potential in you that you don't even know that you have this much of it. So, there was a teacher who said about joining societies because umm I don't know how she said it but she said it she saw something in me, so I was into joining societies in the start." (Noor)

Friendships were also the central part of their lives, for some of these women, still it is. Friendships developed through their educational experiences provided women with social support. During their studies, they had the chance to meet people from various backgrounds, experiencing various perspectives. They felt friendships developed through education were a supportive space for them to share their feelings without thinking a lot. Arooj expresses her feelings about friends made through her college and Madrassa years:

"They [her college friends] have seen you growing, the bond with them is totally different. So, it's very different. It's easier to connect with them on some levels because they know your life in and out so while talking to them you don't worry that I am giving too much information. It is like a therapy session, when we meet them, you feel light. It's good for your mental health. (giggles)." (Arooj)

In Arooj's experience, her friends were supportive for her mental health that made her feel grateful to have them. She said that it is not easy to study for six years without any support system as she felt her studies were difficult and she had kids but because she had her friends who supported her, she was able to do it. She says, "I'm very lucky to have a very good support system and have very good friends like I never felt like in a way when I meet them that you're b*tching about people gossiping about people like, OK, I mean competition among friends. I'm blessed to have like a very good circle." Similarly, Gul also experienced better mental health as Arooj's when meeting friends. Gul felt meeting with her friends was one reason she is missing in her current (Unemployed) routine. She says in favour of her university life routine, 'I used to go out. If you are staying outside, you meet friends so the element of getting sad or depression is reduced a lot, you also go for outing usually a week or after a week we used to go for outing to restaurants. So, I had preferred that routine more. It was better." (Gul)

Not only in friendships, but these women also emphasized on the improvement in their relationships with parents and siblings. The reason behind improved relations seems to be having topics for discussion related to studies, getting help with their studies, achieving scholarships. Zahra shares that her relationship with her father and siblings improved a lot with time and she connects it with her education. Education developed a strong relation with father and siblings, because she expressed that, parents do not do much communication with their children, they are anxious to talk to their kids, so she felt that now she has developed a good bonding with her father. In terms of siblings, she puts it:

"My relation with my sister in the start wasn't so good I mean we used to fight a lot but when I joined PharmD, and it is clear she was also from the medical field so she would explain a lot of things to me in a better way so because of that our relation was improved a lot...." (Zahra)

Gul also shared that during her bachelors, she got scholarship to study in a foreign country for few months, she says, "when I went for studies, so, that was something my father is so proud of still. So, he feels like that yes when he sits in a gathering, he explains this with pride that one of my daughters got a job and the other one [Gul] got scholarship." (Gul)

Arooj shares a different thought on education, according to her getting lots of Education may make you feel you are better than your seniors or your parents, but for her she did not develop this feeling of being better than other because she thinks she had done religious studies after secular studies(college) and feels that there is a strong element of respect in that. This also changed her

"I sometimes also feel that sometimes when you get lots of education you get the thing that maybe you are better than your parents, and maybe you're better than your seniors but I don't know I haven't developed this thing maybe after i got secular education i have done a religious education maybe because of that there is a lot of improvement because there is a strong concept of respect and that is what she developed after her secular education when she entered religious education. She shares from her personal experience, "when I was in my college days, I remember There were instances when I used to be very rude to my teachers. But when you are studying in Madrassa you can't think like that if you have to convey something you are supposed to do in a very polite way." (Arooj)

6. Discussion

The purpose of this study was to explore the life narratives of unemployed educated women living in the urban areas of Pakistan. Specifically, it aims to investigate their experiences with education—education that was supposed to provide them with employment. Additionally, the study analyses the positive outcomes of education despite of unemployment and seeks to understand the contradictions these women face in their daily lives due to their unemployed status. I planned accordingly two research questions to answer during the analysis section. I will here discuss the results and its implications in turns. The first research questions aimed to focus on finding the contradictions unemployed educated women narrated through their experiences. My findings indicate that the education of unemployed women is not that useful as it would be in case of employment. They felt that their routines after their education lacked productivity as previously, they had a very productive routine either due to educational experience or short-term employment experience they had gained. What I also found was that regardless of their higher education they still had to face restriction in the matters of employment either because of patriarchy, care work, cultural norms, traditional family values or by their own will. They felt that without employment their education and time is being wasted. They are unable to use it professionally at home because of the type of degrees they have, they have to go out of their homes for work. They describe this contradiction that they are satisfied with what they learnt and experienced through their education but when it comes to employment, they feel it is useless and all that gained knowledge and skill are being wasted. My findings also show the financial dependence of these educated women. They feel the need to be employed to take care of their further education and daily life needs. Not only this the one woman with remote work also expressed that she had not achieved anything extraordinary financially yet through her education, which again exerts the importance of financial independence of women living in Pakistani society. They also felt that if they were financially independent/with a job they would be respected and valued more. One participant who was married believed in traditional family roles, she seemed satisfied and stress free by the fact that she was unemployed and had no problems financially as her husband was taking care of. It depends on the personal aims, family values and situations, financial status of

the families these women belong to.

Moreover, interestingly a repeated question appeared during the interviews. It was the question of 'what did you do after studying this much?" This question was being asked by my interviewees by their relatives. I found that the biggest contradiction they face is to explain the need for their education in the absence of employment-the same employment that is being restricted by biased practices and norms. Being women, they are questioned for the need to study that much if they were not able to secure a job. According to my finding, educated women in Pakistan must deal with a triangle, one angle is the traditional gender roles ad expectations. Second, are the restrictions and third is the expectations on them to work when they have got a degree. These questions about the need for or worth of their education had led them to avoid social gatherings and meeting people even one of the participants who was happily unemployed was questioned the same and she decided to avoid such gatherings. Educated unemployed women also felt when meeting their friends, that they had nothing new to share and that their life was stuck at a place and felt lost in a discussion. What I interpret is that educated women never the less knows the worth of their education and the worth here is not the debate by me but what I analyze is that the traditional care work (house chores) is still women's work, secondly the same old restrictions on women still persists though it has been reduced and improved but is prevailing in terms of employment. Thirdly, their right to get education is being questioned like it was something that was not needed or needed for the purpose of job? The attitudes towards women's education seems so rigid and still based on the same concept of education being useful for better husband, children's education etc. but what my result shows that these women, in my research, mostly unmarried, are not striving for that, what they are missing in their lives is employment, an opportunity to go out and work in their field related job.

Another noteworthy discovery is that these educated women are actively seeking alternative opportunities that allow them to work from home. As said before, they miss productivity in their daily monotonous routine and due to financial constraints, they are looking for online or remote based jobs to start earning. My findings show that their education could not lead to jobs related to their field, but they were able to use the skills and knowledge achieved through their education in order to look for other opportunities. Some are planning to start freelancing, content writing or digital media marketing to earn while some are doing voluntary work or have hobbies to deal with daily routines.

Regardless of how educated unemployed women narrated the contradiction they still realize how important their education is for them in their daily lives. They shared their past experiences and how those experiences are still meaningful for them in their present lives. My findings while focusing on the second research questions i.e. In what specific ways women narrate their educational experiences and its positive outcomes in their current lives?

The results were divided in to two sub themes, the first being the skills acquired through education and second was their personal growth. For these educated unemployed women their educational time period provided them with opportunities to learn and develop skills. Results shows that the knowledge women get through education helped them in improving their communication skills which then also gave them a sense of confidence because they were aware that they are able to communicate with others in different situation. In most cases, they had fear of speaking which was improved through education. they were capable of speaking for themselves and making a sensible decision for what is right and wrong for them. what I observed is that irrespective of the education they had received they still were not able to exercise complete agency as they were still being restricted from doing jobs. Moreover, these women felt that their relations with their siblings and parents improved because of their education. For the one participant with children, her education was helpful for her in teaching her children.

Educated unemployed women shared in detailed what were their positive outcomes of their education and also currently these are still useful but there is dissatisfaction because of unemployment. They believe their potential could be used in many ways. In their narratives, while discussing the contradiction, they kept move back and forth about when education was useful and beneficial and to the time when they felt it is not that beneficial. None of them were demotivated about their education because they had no job but they were in this phase of contradictory thoughts about past education and current unemployed life.

My research focusing particularly on educated, unemployed women in Pakistan provides a fresh perspective in the area of education and employment. It shows that in Pakistan the gender biased beliefs and practices, patriarchy and traditional roles and expectations are still rooted in the society. (Pio and Syed,2013; Raza and Murad, 2010; Mohsin and Syed, 2020) Women are expected to be educated for getting a suitable marriage partner and dealing with family life (Moazam and sheikhani, 2018)

This study also relates to Betty Friedan's concept of the "Feminine Mystique," which describes the dissatisfaction women felt with their roles and the limitations imposed on their professional development. Friedan's work highlights how societal expectations restricted women's opportunities and fulfillment. Similarly, Mary Wollstonecraft's advocacy for women's education emphasized that women are rational beings deserving of the same opportunities for intellectual and professional growth as men. Wollstonecraft's struggle for women's education and her assertion of women's rationality remains relevant as it relates to the finding of study. Despite their advanced knowledge and skills, these women experienced a sense of frustration and hopelessness due to the barriers they faced in the job market. Thus, both Friedan's and Wollstonecraft's ideas help illuminate the gap between educational attainment and employment opportunities, revealing the persistent challenges that educated women encounter in their professional lives. According to my research, the reason for getting higher education for these women personally was never the aim to look for the best partner but in fact they had high hopes and aims to pursue a career in their respected fields of study. My research indicates that, despite the extensive body of work already present in this field, significant debate persists. Commonly, the discourse is overshadowed by statements asserting that considerable progress has been made and that the issue is sufficiently addressed by the fact that more girls are receiving education.

My research is based on a group of six women, each with a unique background. Despite their diverse experiences, common themes emerged, demonstrating the importance of narrative interviews in studying women's lives. Previous studies in Pakistan have predominantly relied on quantitative methods, often overlooking women's voices and stories. My research contributes to this particularly by examining the intersection of being educated and unemployed, which adds valuable insights to the discourse. I also believe that my study findings have similarities to what Sharma Brymer research in 2006 in India. Lastly, my research contributes by bringing forward women's positive experiences of their education and highlighting their valuable stories. Through this study, I aim to make their voices heard and their narratives recognized within the broader discourse.

6.1 Limitations

While this study provides valuable insights into the experiences and narratives of educated unemployed women of Pakistan, there are several limitations that must be acknowledged, and it will also provide a way forward for other researchers interested. First, being the sample size for this research including only six individuals so the results of this study cannot be generalized for the whole Pakistani women community but it does help in adding their voices into the discussions on women, education and employment. Secondly, the participants were from urban areas of Pakistan which is another factor that this research cannot be generalized as the experiences and narratives of women from rural areas might differ. In addition, in qualitative narrative studies, it is possible that participants may have consciously or unconsciously changed their narratives in a way to sound more favorable and acceptable. Participants background including their financial status and personal circumstances were not completely taken into account but it depended on the long interviews.

7. Conclusion

This research project has highlighted the narratives of educated unemployed women living in the main cities of Pakistan, through their experiences of meaning of education in the past and current lives. This thesis concerned two research questions: 1) What are the contradictions these women narrate about being "educated unemployed" in relation to their educational experiences? 2) In what specific ways women narrate their educational experiences and its positive outcomes in their current lives?

This study revealed women's education experiences and its meaning in their current unemployed lives. My findings states that education for Pakistani women has provided them with many positive outcomes indeed. They have experienced better communication skills, enhanced knowledge, better routine, confidence, friendships, and better relations gained and developed through their education. But they also were in contradiction, due to unemployment. On the one hand, they recognized the positive outcomes of their education, but they had reservations and concerns regarding it.

These educated women feel that their current unemployment limits their ability to use the skills, knowledge, and personal growth they gained through their education and believe that having a job would address this gap. Some of these women, who either ran home-based businesses or worked remotely, shared that they still felt something was missing in their lives. This was due to their work not being recognized as proper or the earnings being too low. Additionally, all these educated women were questioned about the purpose of their education without employment even the one who was content with following a traditional family life also faced challenges in socializing because she was questioned about the purpose of her education. Women have been given permission to get higher education, but they still lack the autonomy over their lives. What education gave them the ability to know their rights and speak for themselves, yet they cannot have authority over their lives and make decisions for themselves in employment. Parents also often impose their choices on their daughters. In this study, many of the women selected their fields of study based on their parents' wishes, peer or family pressure which led into male-dominated professions or fields that were not well-suited for women, hence not given permission for.

Moreover, this study suggests that while women in Pakistan gain knowledge and skills through education, patriarchy, socio-cultural beliefs, and traditional values continue to restrict their ability to start or continue professional careers. What is particularly interesting is that the same culture and society then questions them for not pursuing their careers further.

In conclusion, my research has highlighted the voices and experiences of educated Pakistani women and upon asking by the end of the interview about how they feel, these women expressed happiness and accomplishment, feeling that they have achieved something meaningful in their lives and recognizing the value of their knowledge and experiences.

References:

Ahmed, R., & Hyndman-Rizk, N. (2020). The higher education paradox: towards improving women's empowerment, agency development and labour force participation in Bangladesh. *Gender and Education*, 32(4), 447–465. https://doi.org/10.1080/09540253.2018.1471452

Ali, W., Fani, M. I., Afzal, S., & Yasin, G. (2010). Cultural barriers in women empowerment: a sociological analysis of Multan, Pakistan. *European Journal of Social Sciences*, 18(1), 147-155.

Awan, S. Z. (2016). Relevance of education for women's empowerment in Punjab, Pakistan. Journal of International Women's Studies, 18(1), 208-229. Available at: https://vc.bridgew.edu/jiws/vol18/iss1/14

Anderson, C., Kirkpatrick, S. Narrative interviewing. *Int J Clin Pharm* **38**, 631–634 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11096-015-0222-0

Berges, S. (2013). The Routledge Guidebook to Wollstonecraft's A Vindication of the Rights of Woman. Oxford: Taylor & Francis Group. Accessed June 11, 2024. ProQuest Ebook Central.

Betty Friedan Quotes (Author of the Feminine Mystique)." n.d. https://www.goodreads.com/author/quotes/21798.Betty Friedan.

Friedan, Betty. 2010. The Feminine Mystique. Modern Classics. London, England: Penguin Classics

Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 3(2), 77-101. https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp0630a

Davies, K., & Esseveld, J. (1985). Women and unemployment: A qualitative analysis or playing hopscotch in the Swedish labour market. *Women's Studies International Forum*, 8(4), 263–271. https://doi.org/10.1016/0277-5395(85)90006-8

Davies, K., & Esseveld, J. (1982). Unemployment and identity: A study of women outside the labour market. *Acta Sociologica*, 25(3), 283–293. http://www.jstor.org/stable/4194413

Grünenfelder, J. (2013). Negotiating gender relations: Muslim women and formal employment in Pakistan's rural development sector. *Gender, Work & Organization, 20*(6), 599-615. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-0432.2012.00609.x

Kisana, R., & Arora, S. (2023). 'Seeking a break from home': Investigating women's college experiences in rural Mewat, India. *Gender and Education*, 35(6–7), 638–652. https://doi.org/10.1080/09540253.2023.2233991

Lee, S. (2013). Gender, power and emotion: towards holistic understanding of mature women students in South Korea. *Gender and Education*, 25(2), 170–188. https://doi.org/10.1080/09540253.2012.728196

Lugones, M. C., et al. (1983). Have we got a theory for you! Feminist theory, cultural imperialism and the demand for 'the woman's voice.' *Women's Studies International Forum*, 6(6), 573–581. https://doi.org/10.1016/0277-5395(83)90019-5

Marshall, G. (1984). On the sociology of women's unemployment, its neglect, and significance. *The Sociological Review, 32*(2), 234–259. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-954X.1984.tb00813.x

Malik, S., & Courtney, K. (2011). Higher education and women's empowerment in Pakistan. *Gender and Education*, 23(1), 29-45. https://doi.org/10.1080/09540251003674071

Moazam, F., & Shekhani, S. (2018). Why women go to medical college but fail to practice medicine: perspectives from the Islamic Republic of Pakistan. *Medical Education*, 52(7), 705-715. https://doi.org/10.1111/medu.13545

Mohsin, M., & Syed, J. (2020). The missing doctors — An analysis of educated women and female domesticity in Pakistan. *Gender, Work & Organization, 27*(7), 1077–1102. https://doi.org/10.1111/gwao.12444

Muhammad Arif Zia (1998). Women in employment in Pakistan. Ministry of Women Development, Social Welfare and Special Education, Government of Pakistan, Islamabad.

Noureen, G., & Awan, R. (2011). Women's education in Pakistan: hidden fences on open frontiers. *Asian Social Science*, 7(2), 79-87.

Noureen, G. (2015). Education as a prerequisite to women's empowerment in Pakistan. *Women's Studies*, 44(1), 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1080/00497878.2014.971215

Payal Shah & Ayesha Khurshid (2019). Muslim womanhood, education, and empowerment: ethnographic reflections from Pakistan and India. *Gender and Education*, 31(4), 458-474. https://doi.org/10.1080/09540253.2018.1543859

Pio, E., & Syed, J. (2013). Our bodies, our minds, our men: working South Asian women. *Gender in Management: An International Journal*, 28(3), 140–150. https://doi.org/10.1108/GM-01-2013-0006

Raza, A., & Murad, H. (2010). Gender gap in Pakistan: A socio-demographic analysis. International Journal of Social Economics, 37(7), 541-557. https://doi.org/10.1108/03068291011055478

Sharma-Brymer, V. (2006). Educated women's ways of knowing on gender, education and social transformation: exploring actionable space. *1-21*. https://ro.uow.edu.au/edupapers/886

Skjortnes, M., & Zachariassen, H. H. (2010). 'Even with higher education you remain a woman': A gender perspective on higher education and social change in the Toliara region of Madagascar. *Gender and Education*, 22(2), 193–207. https://doi.org/10.1080/09540250902749075

Smulyan, L. (2004). Redefining self and success: becoming teachers and doctors. *Gender and Education*, 16(2), 225–245. https://doi.org/10.1080/09540250310001690591

Starrin, B., & Larsson, G. (1987). Coping with unemployment—a contribution to the understanding of women's unemployment. *Social Science & Medicine*, *25*(2), 163-171. https://doi.org/10.1016/0277-9536(87)90384-4

Wollstonecraft, M. (1995). Dedication. In: Tomaselli, S. (Ed.), *Wollstonecraft: A Vindication of the Rights of Men and A Vindication of the Rights of Woman and Hints*. Cambridge Texts in the History of Political Thought. Cambridge University Press, 67-70.

Appendix 1:

PARTICIPANT INFORMATION SHEET

"Meanings of education in the life narratives of unemployed women in Pakistan"

Invitation to participate in research

You are invited to participate in research that studies how unemployed women in Pakistan experience the role of education in their lives and how they navigate their identities in relation to their status of unemployment. The goal is to gain insights into women's own experiences of what education has meant and continues to mean to them in their changing life situations.

You are requested to participate in this research because the research focuses on:

- women living in Pakistan
- minimum bachelor's level education
- currently unemployed
- aged 23-35 years.

If you decide to participate, it is requested to ensure that you can fulfil the following requirements;

- you are able to use zoom app
- a stable internet connection
- quiet place where you can talk comfortably.

Voluntary participation

It is voluntary to participate in the research, but you are also requested to read the research purpose carefully before submitting your consent. You can refuse to participate in the research, withdraw from the research or cancel your consent to participate in the research at any point without any negative consequences to the researcher's work if you inform before March 2024, at which point the writing of the thesis will be completed. You can inform the researcher about the cancelling of

your consent by sending an email and also explain how you want your data taken for the study to be dealt with.

Responsible persons of the research

This research is conducted by a Researcher Sana Khan as a part of the requirement of her Master's Degree Programme in Gender Studies at the University of Turku in Finland under supervision of Professor Anu Koivunen from School of History, Culture and Arts Studies at the University of Turku.

Research process

In this research, an interview will be conducted online via Zoom in the months of November-December 2023. First, the research will be explained to the participant using the information sheet and consent form and it will take 15 minutes. After agreeing to proceed, the actual interview will be conducted and will last for approximately 60 minutes.

The interview data collected will be used to analyse the role of education in the life narratives of women. It will help to understand how Pakistani women make meaning of their education in their lives when they are not formally employed. You are expected to talk honestly and freely without thinking about right and wrong answers. the purpose is to gain insights into what education has meant to you in different phases of your life so far.

The interviews will be audio recorded. It is your choice to give interviews either in English or in Urdu. The Interviews will be transcribed by the researcher herself.

Researcher's Master's thesis will be written in English, which is why the Urdu Transcription will be translated into English. No other person will be involved in this process. The interview is initially scheduled to occur once, but if any extra questions arise following the initial interviews, you may be contacted for an additional interview.

This research project is designed to conclude once her thesis submission is officially approved.

Possible benefits and risks

There will be no compensation for participating in this research, but participating in this research and sharing your experiences can bring valuable insights to the understanding of role of education among unemployed Pakistani women which has not been previously given much attention.

Talking about the risks, there is no physical danger in participating in this research, and your participation is guaranteed anonymity. However, during the interviews some questions may trigger past memories or experiences. In that case, you are free to not answer that question. During the interview, if you feel uncomfortable, you have the right to stop the interview or withdraw from it. Withdrawing from the interview means you are no longer participating in this research but if you wish to join later, please inform the researcher via email.

Incentives for participation

No fee is paid for participating in the research.

Processing personal data

The information obtained in the research is confidential. The interview and personal data will not be used for any other purposes and the data will be kept secured. The personal data such as name of the research participants will be replaced with a pseudonym to ensure the anonymity of the participants. The research participant can also ask the researcher for their transcript of the interview before it being cited in the thesis to check if it is transcribed accurately and to ensure their anonymity.

This research is conducted following Finnish National Board on Research Integrity TENK guidelines and General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR).

Storage of research data and reporting the research results

The data collected during the research like consent form, recorded audio tapes, transcriptions and translations will be kept safe. The researcher will use secure storage system called Seafile which is monitored by University of Turku.

During the writing process of thesis, some data may be kept in researcher laptop but it will be protected with password. Antivirus and security system will be installed to keep the data safe. All

the research data will be discarded from the Seafile after the researcher graduates from University of Turku.

The research results are reported in thesis and seminar presentation at the University of Turku

Contact person for further enquiries

If you have questions about the research, you can contact Sana Khan, Researcher, email: sana.s.khan@utu.fi.

Ms. Sana Khan

Student/Researcher

Faculty of Humanities

Department of Gender Studies

Appendix 2:

Interview questions

- 1. Please tell me about yourself.
- 2. Tell me about your educational background.
 - 2.1 What did you study and where?
- 3. Can you tell me why did you choose that particular subject to get a degree in?
- 4. Please describe what were your feelings about your education when you were pursuing this degree?
- 5. Can you describe what was a typical day like for you when you were studying?
- 6. How did you imagine your future life when you were studying?
- 7. How do you feel about your studies today?
- 8. What adjustments you have made to your educational aspirations.
 - 8.1 Has your perception about your education changed overtime?
 - 8.2 what does it mean to you now?
- 9. Can you tell me about friendships or social networks that you acquired during your education.
 - 9.1 Are you still in contact with those friends?
 - 9.2 how do you connect with each other and how often?
 - 9.3 How does it make you feel when meeting your friends or any acquaintance?
- 10. Tell me what did you do yesterday?
 - 10.1 Can you share more about your activities or hobbies?
 - 10.2 Which one is your favorite?
 - 10.3Have any of your educational experiences sparked your interest in these activities?

 Can you share about it?
 - 10.4Have you found something that you are passionate about because of what you studied/ or education?
 - 10.5 Can you share how these activities you mentioned helps you (In what ways) in your day-to-day life. Please share examples from your very own experiences.
- 11. Share how your education contributed the way you have grown as a person?
 - 11.1How do you feel about that (whatever the RP shares)?

- 12. do you define yourself as unemployed? If not why? do you think there is a terminology issue?
 - 12.1why are you unemployed? did you choose to be unemployed?
 - 12.2 have you ever been employed? If yes! Please share its experience.
 - 12.3 how do you feel now being outside formal work?
 - 12.4How do you imagine your life if you were working now?
- 13. Do you experience difficulties because of your employment status?
 - 13.1Can you share more about these (whatever mentioned) from your experience?
 - 13.2how do you feel about the challenges that you have to face?
- 14. Can you describe what did you do yesterday?
- 15. In your experience have your education helped in your relation with family?
 - 15.1How your studies bring change with your role as a daughter, wife and mother?
 - 15.2Share experiences how education is the part of the roles you perform.
- 16. Do you have something to share about how education provided you with skills that is valuable in this changing world?